# Journal of Evolution Equations



# Heat kernel asymptotics of the subordinator and subordinate Brownian motion

#### M. A. FAHRENWALDT

Abstract. For a class of Laplace exponents, we consider the transition density of the subordinator and the heat kernel of the corresponding subordinate Brownian motion. We derive explicit approximate expressions for these objects in the form of asymptotic expansions: via the saddle point method for the subordinator's transition density and via the Mellin transform for the subordinate heat kernel. The latter builds on ideas from index theory using zeta functions. In either case, we highlight the role played by the analyticity of the Laplace exponent for the qualitative properties of the asymptotics.

## **Contents**

1.	Introduction	33
2.	Preliminaries	36
3.	Key results	37
	3.1. The transition density of the subordinator	37
	3.2. The heat kernel of subordinate Brownian motion	43
4.	Proof of the approximate transition density of the subordinator	47
	4.1. A class of Bernstein functions	47
	4.2. Proof of the approximation of the transition density	53
5.	Proof of the heat kernel asymptotics	58
	5.1. Definition of the zeta function and relation with the heat kern	el 59
	5.2. Different characterisations of the zeta function	60
	5.3. Approximation of the heat kernel coefficients	63
REFERENCES		69

#### 1. Introduction

The importance of the heat kernel in mathematics is hard to exaggerate, and we refer to [29,30,42] for numerous examples from various branches of mathematics and

Mathematics Subject Classification: 35K08, 60J55, 41A60

Keywords: Heat kernel, Subordinate Brownian motion, Asymptotic analysis, Mellin transform, Zeta function.



theoretical physics. The heat kernel appears typically as the fundamental solution of a partial differential equation, as the integral kernel of an operator semigroup or as the transition density of a stochastic process.

In its most basic form, the heat kernel refers to the Laplace operator  $\Delta$  on Euclidean space or the Laplace–Beltrami operator on a Riemannian manifold. Classical results link the short-time asymptotics of the heat kernel on a closed manifold to the geometry of the manifold [33], and it plays a significant role in index theory [2,5].

The heat kernel can be computed explicitly only in special cases, usually in the presence of high degrees of symmetry of the underlying manifold. We refer the reader to [10] for examples of techniques for explicitly constructing heat kernels. In all other cases, one must content oneself with bounds or (asymptotic) approximations of the heat kernel.

Recent attention has moved towards the heat kernels of nonlocal operators of the form  $f(\Delta)$  for suitable functions f. These operators also naturally appear in probability theory as the infinitesimal generators of subordinate Brownian motion with Laplace exponent f. Typical examples would be  $f(z) = z^{\alpha}$  or  $f(z) = (1+z)^{\alpha} - 1$ . One is interested in the properties of the associated heat kernels on Euclidean space or Riemannian manifolds with various types of boundary conditions. Such operators and the heat kernels are also important from a practical point of view since they appear naturally in physics [4] or financial mathematics [16].

This paper continues the theme of [21] albeit on Euclidean space. To summarise our approach and results in a non-technical way, denote by  $B_t$  a standard Brownian motion on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $X_t$  be a subordinator with corresponding Laplace exponent f, i.e.,  $X_t$  is an almost surely increasing Lévy process that takes values in the nonnegative reals. It can be thought of as introducing an "operating time". Our key assumption is that the subordinators possess a Lévy density which has an asymptotic power series near the origin and is of rapid decay at infinity. We then derive asymptotics in t for both the transition density  $p_t(\tau)$  of the subordinator  $X_t$  and the heat kernel  $k_t(x, y)$  of the subordinate Brownian motion  $B_{X_t}$ . Qualitatively, our results and related results can be summarised in Fig. 1 (note that we recast cited results in our notation, some authors write  $p_t(x)$  instead of  $p_t(\tau)$  or  $p_t(x-y)$  instead of  $k_t(x, y)$  for symmetric processes).

The asymptotics of  $p_t(\tau)$  are obtained via an application of the saddle point method to an integral representation of the transition density. The difficulty here is that the saddle point depends on t and  $\tau$  so that a detailed analysis is required. A key role is played by the analyticity of the Laplace exponent on a cut plane. The saddle point methods shows that the transition density decreases exponentially for  $t \to \infty$  and  $\tau \to 0$ .

On the other hand, the asymptotics of the subordinate heat kernel are obtained using ideas from index theory: we introduce a function ("zeta function") that is the Mellin transform of the heat kernel. Standard properties of the Mellin transform together with the fact that f is not entire then show that for small values of t, the heat kernel

operating time  $\tau \to 0$  or space operating time  $\tau \to \infty$  or variables  $||x-y|| \to 0$ space variables  $||x-y|| \to \infty$  $\bullet$  Laplace exponent f ana-• Theorem 1.2 of [13] lytic and growth  $f(z) \sim$  $z^{\alpha}$  leads to  $k_t(x,y) \sim$  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k t^k$  with  $a_k$  depending on ||x-y|| (Corollary 3.14 and Theorem 3.16) • Theorem 1.2 of [13], Theorem 1.2 of [15] each yielding lower and upper heat kernel bounds • Characteristic exponent • Laplace exponent f analytic and growth  $f(z) \sim$ entire leads to exponen- $z^{\alpha}$  leads to  $p_t(\tau)$  of expotial decay of  $k_t(x,y)$  ([31, nential decay in both  $t, \tau$ Theorem 2.1(Theorem 3.6)

Figure 1. Selected related results

possesses an asymptotic power series in t. This is contrast to the rapid decay of  $k_t$  which is observed for f entire. We give several characterisations of the zeta function and derive explicit lowest order terms for our class of Bernstein functions.

Closely related to our investigation of the subordinator's transition density is [31] (see also [32] for similar estimates in higher-dimensional Euclidean space). The authors employ the saddle point method to derive asymptotics of the transition densities of certain one-dimensional Lévy processes. Under the key assumption of the characteristic exponent (equivalently the symbol of the process) being an entire function, they show that  $p_t(\tau)$  has exponential decay as  $t+\tau\to\infty$ . In a sense, this complements our analysis since the authors consider the "opposite" direction of the  $\tau$ -variable. Also, the assumption of an everywhere analytic symbol leads to exponential decay. Note that in general the characteristic exponent of subordinate Brownian motion is not entire as it is given in terms of a Bernstein function. Except for special cases, these functions are analytic on a half-plane or on a cut plane. It is precisely the lack of analyticity that leads to an asymptotic power series in t for the heat kernel of subordinate Brownian motion as opposed to rapid decay.

Another closely related paper is the recent [34] in which the author uses scaling properties of the Laplace exponent f to derive upper and lower heat kernel bounds for subordinate Brownian motion. The estimates are expressed in terms of the inverse  $f^{-1}$  and an auxiliary function that also appears in our paper. The class of Laplace exponents considered covers our class.

An efficient and widely used method for deriving heat kernel estimates was developed in [11] that links Nash's inequality and Dirichlet forms. The connection with stochastic processes on Euclidean space was exploited for example in [3,12] or [13,15] and related papers by the same authors. Their approach relies on growth properties of the jumping intensity and its impact on the associated Dirichlet form. For the type of Laplace exponent considered by us, we recover parts of the cited results in the short-term asymptotics. Analytic methods to obtain heat kernel bounds are described in [18,23]. We do not even attempt to summarise the recent literature for the situation on bounded domains. (We do not claim completeness of this list and refer the reader to the references in these papers.)

This paper is organised as follows. The subsequent section introduces some notation and collects some preliminary material. We state and comment on the key results in Sect. 3. These are proved in the subsequent two sections followed by a short appendix that calculates a particular line integral.

# 2. Preliminaries

We introduce some notation and collect various prerequisites.

**Landau** *O***-notation** Let f and g be two functions  $(0, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$ . Then we characterise the growth of this function as follows.

- (i) We say f = O(g) if  $\limsup_{x \to \infty} |f(x)/g(x)| < \infty$ .
- (ii) We say f = o(g) if  $\limsup_{x \to \infty} |f(x)/g(x)| = 0$ .

Likewise for  $x \to 0$ .

**Asymptotic series** This definition closely follows Chapter 2 in [17]. Let  $g:(0,\infty)\to\mathbb{R}$  be a function whose asymptotic behaviour at 0 we wish to characterise. (Analogous definitions apply for the asymptotics at  $\infty$ .) A sequence of functions  $\{\varphi_k\}$  is called an *asymptotic sequence at* 0 if  $\varphi_{k+1}=o(\varphi_k)$  at 0. We then say that  $g(x)\sim\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}p_k\varphi_k(x)$  as  $x\to 0^+$  if there are  $p_k\in\mathbb{C}$  such that

$$g(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{N} p_k \varphi_k(x) = o(\varphi_N(x))$$
 (1)

for every  $N \ge 0$  as  $x \to 0^+$ . Typical choices of  $\varphi_k$  we will encounter are  $\varphi_k(x) = x^k$ ,  $\varphi_k(x) = x^{-k}$  or  $\varphi_k(x) = e^{-x^a}x^k$  for a > 0.

**Slowly varying functions** We say that a function  $f:(0,\infty)\to\mathbb{C}$  is *slowly varying* at  $\infty$  if it is nonzero for large enough arguments and  $f(\lambda z)/f(z)\to 1$  as  $z\to\infty$  for all  $\lambda>0$ , cf. [43] and Appendix 1 of [7]. Likewise for  $z\to0$ .

**Bernstein functions** Recall (cf. [37, Definition 3.1]) that a function  $f:(0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  is a *Bernstein function* if f is smooth,  $f(\lambda) \geq 0$  and  $(-1)^{k-1} f^{(k)}(\lambda) \geq 0$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Any Bernstein function can be represented in Lévy–Khintchin form as

$$f(\lambda) = a + b\lambda + \int_0^\infty \left(1 - e^{-\lambda t}\right) \mu(\mathrm{d}t),\tag{2}$$

for constants  $a,b\geq 0$  and  $\mu$  a measure on  $(0,\infty)$  such that  $\int_0^\infty t\wedge 1\ \mu(\mathrm{d}t)<\infty$ . This means in particular that it is smooth on  $(0,\infty)$ , can be extended to an analytic function on the half-plane  $\{z\in\mathbb{C}|\mathrm{Re}\ z>\sigma_0\}$  for some  $\sigma_0\leq 0$  and is continuous on the axis  $\sigma_0+i\mathbb{R}$ . If the measure  $\mu$  has a density m with respect to Lebesgue measure, we call m the Lévy density.

The Mellin transform Given a locally integrable function  $f:(0,\infty)\to\mathbb{C}$ , its *Mellin transform*, denoted by M[f;z], is defined as the integral  $M[f;z]=\int_0^\infty f(t)t^{z-1}\mathrm{d}t$  for any  $z\in\mathbb{C}$  for which the integral converges. The transform exchanges growth of f at 0 and  $\infty$  with complex differentiability in the following sense, cf. [8, Chapter 4] for details. For our purposes, it suffices to consider the case where f has the following asymptotic expansions:

$$f(t) \sim \begin{cases} e^{-dt^{\nu}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c_m t^{-r_m} \text{ as } t \to \infty, \\ e^{-qt^{-\mu}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} p_m t^{a_m} \text{ as } t \to 0, \end{cases}$$

with  $d, q \ge 0, \nu, \mu > 0, c_m, p_m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $r_m, a_m \uparrow \infty$ . Then the Mellin transform of f will be analytic on the strip  $\alpha < \text{Re } z < \beta$  where the boundaries are determined explicitly:

$$\alpha = \begin{cases} -\infty & \text{if } q > 0, \\ -a_0 & \text{if } q = 0, \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \beta = \begin{cases} +\infty & \text{if } d > 0, \\ +r_0 & \text{if } d = 0. \end{cases}$$

In the cases of finite  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  one can meromorphically extend the Mellin transform with simple poles that are given in terms of the asymptotic expansions of f, cf. [8, Lemmas 4.4.3 and 4.4.6]. If d=0, then M[f;z] can be extended to the half-plane Re  $z>\beta$  with at most simple poles at the points  $z=r_m$  and corresponding residue  $c_m$ . Correspondingly, if q=0, the extension holds in the half-plane Re  $z<\alpha$  with at most simple poles at  $z=-a_m$  and residue  $p_m$ . The converse of these claims also holds, cf. [24]. Of particular importance will be the *Plancherel formula* which reads

$$\int_0^\infty f(t)g(t)dt = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c+i\mathbb{R}} M[f;z]M[g;1-z]dz,$$

with  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  in the intersection of the strips of analyticity of the transforms, cf. [41].

# 3. Key results

We state the assumptions, key results and comment on them.

#### 3.1. The transition density of the subordinator

Let  $X_t$  be a subordinator, i.e., a càdlàg stochastic process taking only nonnegative values,  $X_0 = 0$  a.s. and having stationary and independent increments. The reader is referred to [1,6,37] for further details of these processes. The characteristic function of  $X_t$  can be expressed as

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{i\lambda X_t}] = e^{-t\psi(\lambda)}$$

for a negative-definite function  $\psi$ , the *characteristic exponent* or alternatively by its moment generating function

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{-\lambda X_t}] = e^{-tf(\lambda)}$$

with Laplace exponent f. The relationship between  $\psi$  and f is  $\psi(\lambda) = f(-i\lambda)$ . The function f is a Bernstein function.

We assume that the subordinator  $X_t$  has a transition density  $p_t(\cdot)$ . The characteristic function is the Fourier transform of p, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{E}[e^{i\lambda X_t}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\lambda\tau} p_t(\tau) d\tau.$$

The density can be recovered by Fourier inversion as

$$p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\lambda\tau - t\psi(\lambda)} d\lambda, \tag{3}$$

or by inverting the moment generating function using the Bromwich integral

$$p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{\tau \xi - tf(\xi)} d\xi. \tag{4}$$

Here  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  is chosen so that all singularities of the integrand are to the left of the vertical axis  $c + i\mathbb{R}$ . cf. [41]. The integral can only be evaluated in closed form in special cases and hence must be approximated in general.

We expect the growth of f at  $\infty$  to determine the behaviour of the transition density near  $\tau=0$ . To illustrate some possible situations, we consider two examples. Although the first example is discussed in the literature, for example [39, Proposition 5.29], we sketch an alternative proof that sheds light on the relationship between the growth of f at  $\infty$  and the growth of the transition density at  $\tau=0$ .

EXAMPLE 3.1. Let  $f(z) = \log(1 + z^{\alpha})$  for  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . Then for t > 0 fixed and  $\alpha t < 1$  we have  $p_t(\tau) \sim \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha t)} \tau^{\alpha t - 1}$  as  $\tau \to 0$ .

*Proof.* (*Sketch of the details for Example 3.1*) We apply the Handelsman–Lew method which rests on the Plancherel theorem for the Mellin transform, cf. [8, Chapter 4] for details.

1. After a change of variables, the integral (3) becomes

$$p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \int_0^\infty (1 + (i\lambda)^\alpha)^{-t} e^{i\tau\lambda} d\lambda + \int_0^\infty (1 + (-i\lambda)^\alpha)^{-t} e^{-i\tau\lambda} d\lambda \right),$$

with a complex logarithm defined on the cut plane  $\mathbb{C}\setminus(-\infty,0]$  and arguments in  $(-\pi,\pi]$ .

2. Now compute the Mellin transforms. The Mellin transform of  $e^{\pm i\tau\lambda}$  is explicitly given in terms of the Gamma function as  $M[e^{\pm i\tau\lambda};z]=\tau^{-z}e^{\pm\pi iz/2}\Gamma(z)$ . This is

originally defined for 0 < Re z < 1 but has an obvious meromorphic extension to the whole of  $\mathbb{C}$ .

The Mellin transform of  $(1 + (\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}$  could also be computed explicitly in terms of the Beta function, cf. [19, equation 6.2.(30)]. However, to illustrate the general case we consider the growth/decay of  $(1 + (\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}$  as  $\lambda \to 0$  and  $\lambda \to \infty$  since that yields the desired properties of the Mellin transform. Indeed, we have

$$(1 + (\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t} \sim 1 - t(\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha} + \cdots \quad \text{as } \lambda \to 0,$$
  
$$(1 + (\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t} \sim (\pm i\lambda)^{-\alpha t} + \cdots \quad \text{as } \lambda \to \infty,$$

where the dots indicate terms of higher (lower) order in  $\lambda$ . By standard properties of the Mellin transform,  $M[(1+(\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}; z]$  is analytic in the strip  $0 < \text{Re } z < \alpha t$  and can be meromorphically extended to the whole complex plane. It has a simple pole at  $z = \alpha t$  with residue  $(\pm i)^{-\alpha t} = e^{-\alpha t(\pm \pi i/2)}$ .

3. The Plancherel formula for the Mellin transform then yields

$$\begin{split} p_t(\tau) &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c+i\mathbb{R}} M[(1+(i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}; z] \tau^{-(1-z)} e^{\pi i (1-z)/2} \Gamma(1-z) \mathrm{d}z \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c+i\mathbb{R}} M[(1+(-i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}; z] \tau^{-(1-z)} e^{-\pi i (1-z)/2} \Gamma(1-z) \mathrm{d}z \right), \end{split}$$

where  $0 < c < \alpha t$ .

4. To obtain the asymptotic behaviour of  $p_t(\tau)$  for  $\tau \to 0$  we now apply Cauchy's theorem and move the contour to the right across the poles of the integrands. Since  $\alpha t < 1$ , the first pole we encounter is at  $\alpha t$  and it is due to  $M[(1+(\pm i\lambda)^{\alpha})^{-t}; z]$ . We find

$$\begin{split} p_t(\tau) &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( e^{-\alpha t \pi i/2 + \pi i (1 - \alpha t)/2} + e^{\alpha t \pi i/2 - \pi i (1 - \alpha t)/2} \right) \tau^{\alpha t - 1} \Gamma(1 - \alpha t) \\ &\quad + \text{ remainder} \\ &= \frac{\sin(\pi \alpha t)}{\pi} \Gamma(1 - \alpha t) \tau^{\alpha t - 1} + \text{remainder} \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha t)} \tau^{\alpha \tau - 1} + \text{remainder}, \end{split}$$

where the last line follows from the reflection formula of the Gamma function. The remainder term is a line integral with powers in  $\tau$  strictly greater than  $\alpha t - 1$ , cf. Step 3 of the proof of Proposition 4.1. One can repeat this and move the contour across further poles. Each pole yields a term in the asymptotic expansion of  $p_t(\tau)$  in powers of  $\tau$ .

We contrast this with the case when the Laplace exponent grows like  $z^{\alpha}$  instead of  $\log z$ . It is clear that the method just outlined will not yield a meaningful asymptotic expansion since  $e^{-tf(\xi)}$  is of exponential decay so its Mellin transform will have no

poles in the right half-plane. The formally obtained asymptotic power series in  $\tau$  is zero and does not yield much detailed information about the decay of the transition density.

EXAMPLE 3.2. Let  $f(z) = (1+z)^{1/2} - 1$ . Then  $p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{t}{\tau^{3/2}} e^{-t^2/4\tau + t - \tau}$ , as can be seen by evaluating the Fourier integral (3). In particular, this is of rapid decay for  $\tau \to 0$  with t fixed (and  $t \to \infty$  with  $\tau$  fixed).

We are thus led to approximate the Bromwich integral (4) by the saddle point method (cf. for example [17, Section 8]) since we expect this method to extract an exponential term in the asymptotic expansion of  $p_t(\tau)$ . This requires us to find points where the derivative of the exponent vanishes, which clearly happens at the point

$$\xi_{s} = f^{\prime - 1}(\tau/t). \tag{5}$$

Standard arguments using the Cauchy–Riemann equations show that this is a saddle point of the integrand. The saddle point is a function of  $\tau$  and t so that it moves when the parameters change, which necessitates a careful analysis.

REMARK 3.3. Since f is a Bernstein function, Eq. (5) has a unique solution for  $\tau/t$  real. Indeed, the inverse function is smooth also. In general, there are further complex-valued solutions to (5) with each leading to a saddle point that should be considered in the approximation. We cannot expect to say in the general case that the real-valued solution is the "dominant" saddle point in the sense that the approximations due to the other solutions can be neglected. It turns out, however, that the real-valued solution gives a meaningful approximation of the density with explicit error bounds.

We shift the integration contour so that it goes through the saddle point. Ideally, we want to find a contour of steepest descent, i.e., one on which the imaginary part of the exponent in the Bromwich integral is constant. However, to paraphrase [26, Chapter 3.3], it is not necessary in practice to find the path of steepest descent since any path descending from the saddle point will yield the correct answer.

The easiest way is to integrate along the vertical line  $\xi_s + i\mathbb{R}$ . Changing coordinates and defining  $\xi = \xi_s + i\eta$ , we find

$$p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

where

$$\varphi(\eta) = \tau(\xi_s + i\eta) - tf(\xi_s + i\eta).$$

The saddle point method suggests that we approximate  $p_t$  by the Gaussian integral

$$p_t(\tau) \approx \frac{1}{2\pi} e^{\varphi(0)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\xi_s)\eta^2} \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

We will make this precise and also address the difficulty that the saddle point is not fixed but depends on  $\tau/t$ .

We are now ready for the key assumption on the Laplace exponent.

HYPOTHESIS 3.4. We assume that f is a complete Bernstein function with Lévy density m that has the following properties.

(i) Behaviour at 0. The density m is defined on a neighbourhood of the origin in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Moreover, it has an asymptotic expansion of the form

$$m(\lambda) \sim a_0 \lambda^{\alpha_0} + a_1 \lambda^{\alpha_1} + \cdots$$

for  $\lambda \to 0$  that is valid along all rays arg  $\lambda = const$ . Here,  $a_j \in \mathbb{R}$ , and exponents satisfy  $\alpha_0 = -\alpha - 1$  for some  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  and  $\alpha_i \uparrow \infty$ .

(ii) Behaviour at  $\infty$ . The density decays exponentially fast in the sense that the exponent

$$\sigma_0 = \inf \left\{ \sigma \in \mathbb{R} \middle| e^{-\sigma \lambda} m(\lambda) \to 0 \text{ as } \lambda \to \infty \right\}$$

is strictly negative.

REMARK 3.5. Some remarks on this assumption and its consequences.

- (i) The requirement that the asymptotic expansion of *m* be valid in a neighbourhood of the origin in the complex plane leads to uniform growth estimates of the Bernstein function in all directions in the complex plane, cf. Lemma 4.2.
- (ii) Lemma 4.2 also shows that the Bernstein function grows like  $z^{\alpha}$  so that the integrals in (3) and (4) converge absolutely. Necessarily, the transition density of the subordinator must be of this form so that we see its existence. The reader is also referred to [25] for sufficient conditions ensuring the existence of a density.
- (iii) Note that any complete Bernstein function can be analytically continued to the cut complex plane  $\mathbb{C}\setminus(-\infty,0]$  by [37, Theorem 6.2 (v)]. The decay of m at infinity ensures that the function f is analytic on the cut plane  $\mathbb{C}\setminus(-\infty,\sigma_0]$ .
- (iv) In a sense, Hypothesis 3.4 is a generalisation of Hypothesis 1 in [20], where we required  $a_j = -\alpha + (j-1)$  so that  $f(\Delta)$  is a classical pseudodifferential operator. This required the constant "spacing" of the exponents. Here, we relax this assumption so that we allow any asymptotic expansion with increasing exponents. In particular, all of the examples exhibited in [20] satisfy the above hypothesis.
- (v) The parameter  $\alpha$  has a probabilistic interpretation as the Blumenthal–Getoor index of the subordinate Brownian motion whose subordinator is defined in terms of the Bernstein function f satisfying Hypothesis 3.4. This is explained in Theorem 1 of [20].
- (vi) The class of Bernstein functions satisfying this hypothesis is nonempty, five examples are given in Example 1 of [20].

We use the method of steepest descents to derive an approximation of the transition density that is asymptotically valid for small  $\tau$  and large t.

THEOREM 3.6. Suppose f satisfies Hypothesis 3.4 and set  $\xi_s = f'^{-1}(\tau/t)$ .

(i) Fix t > 0. Then

$$p_t(\tau) = e^{\tau \xi_s - t f(\xi_s)} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}} + O\left(\tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+4\beta}{1-\alpha}}\right) \right)$$

as  $\tau \to 0$  for any  $\beta \in (-1 + \frac{3}{8}\alpha, -1 + \frac{1}{2}\alpha)$ .

(ii)  $Fix \tau > 0$ . Then

$$p_t(\tau) = e^{\tau \xi_s - t f(\xi_s)} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}} + O\left(t^{\frac{-2 + 4\gamma}{1 - \alpha}}\right) \right)$$

as  $t \to \infty$  for any  $\gamma \in (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{5}{8})$ .

REMARK 3.7. Two brief remarks on the theorem.

(i) We note that the exponents in the above theorem are related to [28] and [34]. For certain stochastic processes, the authors derive bounds on the transition density in terms of the auxiliary function H(x) = f(x) - xf'(x). Indeed, it is easy to check that

$$\tau \xi_s - t f(\xi_s) = -t H(\xi_s)$$

so that H is crucial for the estimates in Theorem 3.6, too.

(ii) Under the assumption of the characteristic exponent of certain processes being entire, the authors of [31] show that the corresponding transition density  $p_t(\tau)$  is of exponential decay as  $t + \tau \to \infty$ . They also use the saddle point method to identify the exponential term that causes the decay. Their result complements our analysis in the senses that they consider the case of large  $\tau$ .

An important corollary concerns the exponential decay of the transition density.

COROLLARY 3.8. Under Hypothesis 3.4, there are functions  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  of slow variation at 0 with limit 1 at 0 such that approximation of the transition density reads

$$\begin{split} p_t(\tau) = & \frac{1}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}}{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{t}{\tau^{2-\alpha}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_1(\tau/t)}} \\ & \times \exp\left( -(1-\alpha)\alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{t}{\tau^{\alpha}} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} L_2(\tau/t) + \tau\sigma_0 - tf(\sigma_0) \right) \\ & + \textit{higher-order terms}. \end{split}$$

*In particular, the transition density decays exponentially as*  $t \to \infty$  *or*  $\tau \to 0$ .

EXAMPLE 3.9. For the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable subordinator we have  $f(z) = (1 + z)^{\alpha} - 1$  with  $\sigma_0 = 1$ . Neglecting higher-order terms, this leads to the approximation of the transition density given by

$$p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}}{1-\alpha}} \left(\frac{t}{\tau^{2-\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} \exp\left(-(1-\alpha)\alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} \left(\frac{t}{\tau^{\alpha}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} - \tau + t\right),$$

which equals the exact transition density if  $\alpha = 1/2$ .

#### 3.2. The heat kernel of subordinate Brownian motion

The key idea is to use the Mellin transform to translate the short-time asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel into the pole structure of a suitable meromorphic function that is the product of the Gamma function and a "zeta function" to be defined. We mimic the construction of the operator zeta function from index theory (see for example [22, Chapter 1.12]) but dispense with some of the restrictions inherent in the calculus of pseudodifferential operators.

We denote the heat kernel of the subordinate Brownian motion with Laplace exponent f by  $k_t(x, y)$  if there is no confusion about f, and if we want to emphasize the dependence on the Bernstein function we write k[f](t; x, y). This may seem cumbersome but the reader will see immediately why this is sensible. The heat kernel is given by

$$k[f](t;x,y) = \int_0^\infty h_\tau(x,y) p_t(\tau) d\tau.$$
 (6)

Here,  $h_{\tau}$  is the heat kernel of a standard Brownian motion and p is the transition density of the subordinator from the Bromwich integral (4).

DEFINITION 3.10. Under Hypothesis 3.4, let  $k[f](t; \cdot, \cdot)$  be the heat kernel of subordinate Brownian motion in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with Laplace exponent f. We define a function  $\zeta: \{s \in \mathbb{C} | \text{Re } s > 0\} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\zeta[f](s;x,y) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} k[f](t;x,y) dt, \tag{7}$$

so that  $\zeta$  is the Mellin transform of k[f] with respect to t up to the factor  $1/\Gamma(s)$ .

REMARK 3.11. We comment on the motivation and suitability of this definition.

(i) The definition is motivated by the classical operator zeta function based on the relation

$$\Gamma(s)\lambda^{-s} = \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} e^{-\lambda t} dt.$$

If we are given an operator A acting on a Hilbert space with an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions of A and eigenvalues  $\lambda_n$ , then formally

$$\Gamma(s) \sum \lambda_n^{-s} = \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \sum e^{-\lambda_n t} dt.$$

Recalling that  $\sum \lambda_n^{-s} = \text{Trace } (A^{-s}) = \zeta(s)$ , the operator zeta function of A, and  $\sum e^{-\lambda_n t} = \text{Trace } (e^{-At})$  the heat trace, we find

$$\Gamma(s)\zeta(s) = \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \text{Trace } (e^{-At}) dt.$$

Moving from the trace of the complex powers  $A^{-s}$  to their integral kernel yields the above definition of the zeta function  $\zeta(s; x, y)$ . We refer the reader also to [21] where this is done in the context of pseudodifferential operators and  $\zeta(s; x, y)$  is indeed the integral kernel of the complex powers  $A^{-s}$ .

(ii) It is not obvious that Definition 3.10 makes sense as the integral may not converge. Indeed, for general f we cannot expect (7) to exist other than in the sense of an oscillatory integral, cf. Chapter 7.8 of [27] or Chapter I.1.2 of [38]. However, in our class of Bernstein functions if we choose a>0 suitably large, then the integral for  $\zeta[f+a](s;x,y)$  converges absolutely as shown in Lemma 5.1. Here, f+a stands for the Bernstein function  $z\mapsto f(z)+a$ . The reason why we are free to choose such an a is as follows: From the integrals (4) and (6), we see that

$$k[f + a](t; x, y) = e^{-at}k[f](t; x, y),$$

which also justifies that we mention the Bernstein function in the notation. As we are interested in the short-time asymptotics of the heat kernel k[f], we may as well derive the asymptotics of k[f+a] and scale by  $e^{at}$ .

We characterise the zeta function from three perspectives.

THEOREM 3.12. Assume Hypothesis 3.4. Fix  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $x \neq y$  and denote by d(x, y) = ||x - y|| the Euclidean distance of x and y. Then the following claims hold for any  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ .

(i) Choose c a real number such that  $\sigma_0 < c < 0$  and fix an a > 0 such that Re  $f(c+i\eta) + a > 0$  for all  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ . The zeta function can then be written as

$$\zeta[f+a](s;x,y) = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \left(\frac{2}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} [f(\xi)+a]^{-s} (-\xi)^{\nu/2} \times K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)(-\xi)^{1/2}\right) d\xi, \tag{8}$$

where v = n/2 - 1 and . Here,  $K_v$  is a modified Bessel function of the second kind.

(ii) We can also express the zeta function as

$$\zeta[f+a](s;x,y) = \frac{2^{\nu+1}}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^\infty g_s(r) \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}\right) dr, \tag{9}$$

where  $g_s(r) = [f(\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi}) + a]^{-s} - [f(\sigma_0 + re^{i\pi}) + a]^{-s}$  and a is as in (i).

(iii) Denote by  $u_s$  the solution of the Poisson equation on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (Euclidean Klein-Gordon equation)

$$\left[-\Delta + d(x, y)^2\right]u_s = v_s,$$

with

$$v_s(x') = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \mathbb{1}_{\{||x'|| \ge \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{\text{vol}(S^{n-1})d(x, y)^{2\nu}} g_s\left(\sigma_0 + ||x'||^2\right) ||x'||^{2\nu+1}.$$

Here,  $\mathbb{1}_A$  is the indicator function for the set  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^n \partial_{x_i'}^2$  the Laplacian on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\operatorname{vol}(S^{n-1})$  denotes the volume of the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $\zeta(s; x, y) = u_s(0)$ .

REMARK 3.13. A few remarks on Theorem 3.12 and Corollary 3.14.

- (i) For the representation (8), we have the following comments.
  - (a) The integral is defined based on two cuts in the complex plane that allow the construction of a complex logarithm: To define  $[f(\xi) + a]^{-s}$  we cut along  $(-\infty, \sigma_0]$ , with respect to this cut, we allow the argument of a complex number to be in the interval  $(-\pi, \pi]$ . To define the square root  $(-\xi)^{1/2}$  and its powers, we cut along  $[0, \infty)$  and with respect to this cut, we allow the argument of a complex number to be in the interval  $[0, 2\pi)$ . The assumption  $\sigma_0 < 0$  is crucial for our argument as it allows the contour  $c + i\mathbb{R}$  to pass between the two cuts. If  $\sigma_0$  were zero, this would not be possible.
  - (b) If f were entire, then the line integral would vanish by Cauchy's theorem so that the zeta function would be identically zero. The consequence would be that all heat kernel coefficients vanish so that the heat kernel decays faster than any polynomial as t → 0. Hence, the polynomial nature of kt for small t is due to f not being entire. This is the case considered in Corollary 8 of [32] where an entire characteristic exponent leads to exponential decay of the heat kernel as t → 0. We refer to Remark 3.7 for a comparison with [31] where the assumption of entire characteristic exponents is important and leads to exponential decay of the transition density (albeit for t → ∞ and large distances d(x, y), but our analysis again complements this.) We also refer the reader to a related discussion of the decay of the transition density and the analyticity of the Laplace exponent in [9, Chapter 3] in the context of modelling real-world phenomena.
- (ii) We can view the representation (9) as a Bessel or Hankel transform.
- (iii) The representation in (3.12) is useful for numerical computations of the heat kernel coefficients. Moreover, the generator of the subordinate Brownian motion is the operator  $f(\Delta)$  in the sense of a Dunford integral (cf. the discussion in Section 4 of [36]). The Dunford integral requires the full resolvent family, i.e., we must know  $(-\Delta + \lambda)^{-1}$  for any  $\lambda > 0$ . However, the heat kernel coefficients for given x, y as expressed by  $\zeta(s; x, y)$  need only a single resolvent, namely

 $(-\Delta + d(x, y))^{-1}$ . When expanding the heat kernel of the nonlocal operator  $f(\Delta)$  in powers of t, we obtain coefficients that are determined in terms of the local (namely differential) operator  $\Delta$ .

The relation with the short-time asymptotics of the subordinate heat kernel is an immediate consequence.

COROLLARY 3.14. The function  $\zeta[f+a](s;x,y)$  is entire and  $\zeta[f+a](0;x,y) = 0$ . As a consequence, the heat kernel asymptotics of k[f] read

$$k[f](t;x,y) \sim e^{at} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \zeta[f+a](-k;x,y)t^k$$
 (10)

for  $t \to 0$ . This is independent of the choice of a.

- REMARK 3.15. (i) This asymptotic expansion for k[f] is rather suggestive when we note that formally the zeta function is the integral kernel of the operator  $[f(\Delta) + a]^{-s}$ . The right hand side of (10) is then merely the exponential series for the integral kernel of the operator  $e^{-t[f(\Delta)+a]}$  with the constant term omitted, see also Remark 3.6 in [21].
- (ii) The lowest order heat kernel coefficient is given as

$$\begin{split} \zeta[f](-1;x,y) &= \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \left( \frac{2}{d(x,y)} \right)^{\nu} \\ &\cdot \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} f(\xi)(-\xi)^{\nu/2} K_{\nu} \left( d(x,y)(-\xi)^{1/2} \right) \mathrm{d}\xi. \end{split}$$

We will use asymptotic methods analysis to evaluate this integral, of course exploiting the asymptotic expansion of m near the origin. The integral should, however, also serve as the basis in more general situations when the restrictions placed on f (and its density m) are less severe; this is the subject of current research.

The aim is now to find an approximation to the first heat kernel coefficient. We will do this in the form of an asymptotic series that is valid for small values of t and d.

THEOREM 3.16. Assume Hypothesis 3.4. The lowest order heat kernel asymptotics for subordinate Brownian motion with Laplace exponent f reads

$$k_t(x, y) \sim \frac{a_0}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{\alpha \Gamma(n/2 + \alpha)}{\Gamma(1 - \alpha)} \left(\frac{2}{d(x, y)}\right)^{n+2\alpha} t,$$

as  $t \to 0$  in lowest orders in t and the Euclidean distance d.

REMARK 3.17. This result agrees with Theorem 1.2 of [15]. For a Laplace exponent of the form  $f(x) = x^{\alpha} l(x)$  with l slowly varying at  $\infty$ , the jumping intensity

satisfies the asymptotics  $j(x, y) \sim l(d(x, y)^{-2})/d(x, y)^{n+2\alpha}$  as  $d(x, y) \to 0$ . The cited theorem yields the upper bound

$$k_t(x, y) \le C\left(t^{-n/2\alpha} \wedge \frac{t}{d(x, y)^{n+2\alpha}}\right),$$

which is obtained by setting  $V(r) = r^n$  and  $\phi(r) = r^{2\alpha}$  in the notation of [15].

An immediate consequence concerns the heat kernel expansion of the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable process.

EXAMPLE 3.18. The heat kernel expansion for the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable process with  $f(z) = (1+z)^{\alpha} - 1$  reads

$$k_t(x, y) \sim \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{\alpha \Gamma(n/2 + \alpha)}{\Gamma(1 - \alpha)} \left(\frac{2}{d(x, y)}\right)^{n+2\alpha} t,$$

as  $t \to 0$  in lowest orders in t and the Euclidean distance d. It is instructive to compare this result with the literature: it agrees with [21] translated to the case of a flat manifold. Moreover, the bounds for the relativistic stable process ( $\alpha = 1/2$ ) obtained in [13, Theorem 1.2(1.a)], [14, Theorem 4.1] or [15, Example 2.4] read in our notation

$$k_t(x, y)(t; x, y) \le c_1 \left( t^{-n} \wedge \frac{t}{d(x, y)^{n+1}} \right) e^{-c_2 d(x, y)}$$

for constants  $c_1, c_2$  and  $t \in (0, t_0]$  for  $t_0$  fixed. This obviously agrees with our result for sufficiently small t.

# 4. Proof of the approximate transition density of the subordinator

In this section, we provide the proof of the approximation result in Theorem 3.6 and of some auxiliary results. We first collect growth properties of our class of Bernstein functions in a separate subsection and then prove the main result.

# 4.1. A class of Bernstein functions

We collect growth properties of the Bernstein functions satisfying Hypothesis 3.4. The key property of our class Bernstein functions concerns the growth along parallels to the imaginary axis. This will be applied in the proofs of Proposition 4.11 and Lemma 5.1.

PROPOSITION 4.1. *Under Hypothesis* 3.4 the following holds.

(i) If  $x \ge 0$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , then we can write

Re 
$$f(x+iy) - f(x) = -a_0 \Gamma(-\alpha) \cos(\frac{\alpha \pi}{2}) |y|^{\alpha} + R(x, y).$$
 (11)

Here, R is a function such that  $|y|^{-\alpha}R(x,y) \to 0$  as  $|y| \to \infty$  uniformly in x.

(ii) If  $\sigma_0 < x < 0$ , then (11) still holds; however,  $|y|^{-\alpha}R(x,y) \to 0$  as  $|y| \to \infty$  pointwise in x but not uniformly.

We note that this result is related to the familiar property of complete Bernstein functions preserving sectors in the complex plane, cf. [37, Corollary 6.6].

*Proof.* The asymptotics in y could be shown by a simple application of Watson's Lemma. However, we need a bound on the remainder term and its dependence on x so that a more detailed analysis is required.

We first prove assertion (i).

1. We use the representation (2) to write

$$f(x+iy) - f(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda x} (1 - e^{-i\lambda y}) m(\lambda) d\lambda$$
$$= \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda) \cdot (1 - e^{-i\lambda y}) d\lambda$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c+i\mathbb{R}} M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); z] \cdot M[1 - e^{-i\lambda y}; 1 - z] dz, \quad (12)$$

by the Plancherel formula for the Mellin transform for  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  to be determined.

2. We consider the Mellin transforms separately. As regards the first Mellin transform, the asymptotic expansion of m near the origin translates into a strip of analyticity of  $M[e^{-\lambda x}m(\lambda);z]$  given by  $1+\alpha < \text{Re }z$  since m is of exponential decay at  $\infty$ . The Mellin transform can be analytically continued to the whole complex plane with at most simple poles at the points  $-\alpha_j$  and corresponding residue  $a_j$ . Recall that  $\alpha_0 = -\alpha - 1$ .

For the second Mellin transform, we obtain explicitly that

$$M[1 - e^{-i\lambda y}; z] = -(iy)^{-z}\Gamma(z),$$

cf. [19, Equation 6.3(18)] where we set  $a=\epsilon-iy$  with  $\epsilon>0$  and let  $\epsilon\to 0$ . Its strip of analyticity is given by -1<Re z<0 so that  $M[1-e^{-i\lambda y};1-z]$  is analytic for 1<Re z<2. This Mellin transform can be continued to a meromorphic function on  $\mathbb C$ .

3. In the integral (12) we choose c in the intersection of the strips of analyticity of the Mellin transforms, i.e.,  $1 + \alpha < c < 2$ . By Cauchy's theorem we can move the contour to the left across the pole at  $1 + \alpha$  and write

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c+i\mathbb{R}} M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); z] \cdot M[1 - e^{-i\lambda y}; 1 - z] dz$$
  
=  $a_0 \cdot (-1)(iy)^{\alpha} \Gamma(-\alpha) + R(x, y),$ 

where

$$R(x, y) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c'+i\mathbb{R}} M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); z] \cdot M[1 - e^{-i\lambda y}; 1 - z] dz$$

with c' is such that  $\max(-\alpha_1, \alpha) < c' < 1 + \alpha$ . The next pole is at  $-\alpha_1$  so that  $c' > -\alpha_1$  would be sufficient here but we will require  $c' > \alpha$  in Step 5 below.

4. It remains to estimate the remainder term independently of x and show that  $|y|^{-\alpha}R(x, y) \to 0$  as  $|y| \to \infty$ . Indeed,

$$\left| \int_{c'+i\mathbb{R}} M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); z] \cdot M[1 - e^{-i\lambda y}; 1 - z] dz \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); c' + iu] \right| \cdot \left| y^{-(1 - c' - iu)} \Gamma(1 - c' - iu) \right| du$$

$$= \left| y \right|^{c'-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| M[e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda); c' + iu] \right| \cdot \left| \Gamma(1 - c' - iu) \right| du.$$

If we can show that the Mellin transform is bounded independently of x, then we are done: the integral of the Gamma function along parallels to the imaginary axis converges by the decay estimates in [35, Chapter 2.4.3].

To obtain the desired bound on the Mellin transform, one cannot easily bound the Mellin integral since the line  $c' + i\mathbb{R}$  is not in the original domain of definition of  $M[e^{-\lambda x}m(\lambda);z]$ . We must thus manufacture an expression for its analytic continuation and then show that this is bounded uniformly in x. Since analytic continuations are unique, we have then proved the claim.

5. To produce the analytic continuation, we split the integral and employ the asymptotic expansion of m near the origin. For Re  $z > 1 + \alpha$  we can write

$$M[e^{-\lambda x}m(\lambda);z] = \int_0^1 \lambda^{z-1}e^{-\lambda x}m(\lambda)d\lambda + \int_1^\infty \lambda^{z-1}e^{-\lambda x}m(\lambda)d\lambda.$$

We note that the integral from 1 to  $\infty$  is an entire function of z due to the rapid decay of m at  $\infty$ . Moreover, we can simply bound this independently of x:

$$\left| \int_{1}^{\infty} \lambda^{z-1} e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda) d\lambda \right| \le \int_{1}^{\infty} \lambda^{\operatorname{Re} z - 1} m(\lambda) d\lambda, \tag{13}$$

since x > 0.

The integral from 0 to 1 is rewritten as

$$\int_0^1 \lambda^{z-1} e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda) d\lambda = \int_0^1 \lambda^{z-1} e^{-\lambda x} \left( m(\lambda) - \frac{a_0}{\lambda^{1+\alpha}} \right) d\lambda + \int_0^1 \lambda^{z-1} e^{-\lambda x} \frac{a_0}{\lambda^{1+\alpha}} d\lambda.$$

By the asymptotic expansion of m, the first integral converges absolutely for z = c' + iu with  $-\alpha_1 < c' < 1 + \alpha$ . We bound  $e^{-\lambda x}$  above by 1 to obtain a bound independent of x.

In the second integral, we integrate by parts to obtain the desired analytic continuation:

$$\int_0^1 \lambda^{z-\alpha-2} e^{-\lambda x} d\lambda = \left[ \frac{1}{z-\alpha-1} \lambda^{z-\alpha-1} e^{-\lambda x} \right]_0^1 + \frac{x}{z-\alpha-1} \int_0^1 \lambda^{z-\alpha-1} e^{-\lambda x} d\lambda$$
$$= \frac{1}{z-\alpha-1} e^{-x} + \frac{x}{z-\alpha-1} \int_0^1 \lambda^{z-\alpha-1} e^{-\lambda x} d\lambda \tag{14}$$

The integral term converges absolutely for  $c' > \alpha$ . The terms can clearly be bounded independently of x so that the proposition is proved.

To deduce assertion (ii) on the pointwise limit of R, we note that the integral on the left hand side of (13) can be bounded for  $x > \sigma_0$  by the rapid decay of the density m. Recall that the Bernstein function has abscissa of convergence  $\sigma_0$  so that multiplication by  $e^{-\lambda x}$  with  $x \in (-\sigma_0, 0)$  does not affect the convergence of (13). Moreover, the terms in (14) can be bounded in terms of x, albeit not uniformly.

The second description of the growth of the Bernstein functions follows from Watson's Lemma where the key point is that the asymptotic expansion holds in all directions in which z can approach  $\infty$  in the complex plane.

LEMMA 4.2. Under Hypothesis 3.4, we have the asymptotic expansion

$$f(z) \sim -a_0 \Gamma(-\alpha) z^{\alpha} - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} a_j \Gamma(1+\alpha_j) z^{-(1+\alpha_j)} + \int_0^{\infty} m(\lambda) d\lambda$$

as  $z \to \infty$  along any ray in the complex plane.

*Proof.* This is simply the generalised Watson's Lemma of [45, Chapter I.5] applied to (2). The asymptotic property irrespective of the direction follows since the Lévy density m has the same asymptotic expansion when approaching 0 in any direction.  $\Box$ 

In the analysis of the transition density of the subordinator, we also need an alternative characterisation of the growth of the Bernstein function. We phrase this in terms of functions of slow variation as the most natural setting, although this is somewhat more general than we need here (all function will have limits so are naturally slowly varying).

LEMMA 4.3. Under Hypothesis 3.4, we can write

$$f(\sigma_0 + z) = f(\sigma_0) + z^{\alpha} l_0(z)$$

for Re z > 0 where  $l_0$  is a slowly varying function at infinity with  $\lim_{z \to \infty} l_0(z) = 1$ .

*Proof.* Using the asymptotics of m at 0 and  $\infty$  we decompose the Lévy density additively as  $m(\lambda) = \lambda^{-1-\alpha} e^{\sigma_0 \lambda} + n(\lambda)$  for some integrable function  $n(\lambda)$ . For Re z > 0 we have by (2) that

$$f(z) = \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) \lambda^{-1 - \alpha} e^{\sigma_0 \lambda} d\lambda + g(z),$$

where  $g(z) = \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) n(\lambda) d\lambda$ . Directly evaluating the first integral leads to

$$f(z) = (-\sigma_0 + z)^{\alpha} - (-\sigma_0)^{\alpha} + g(z).$$

We can thus write

$$f(z) = (-\sigma_0 + z)^{\alpha} l_0 (-\sigma_0 + z) + f(\sigma_0),$$

and set  $l_0(w) = 1 + [g(\sigma_0 + w) - (-\sigma_0)^{\alpha} - f(\sigma_0)]/w^{\alpha}$ . Based on the asymptotics of n at 0, Watson's Lemma shows that  $l_0(w) \to 1$  as  $w \to \infty$  in the right half-plane. Slow variation is immediate.

This assumption also implies the growth of the derivatives of f which is key for the saddle point method.

LEMMA 4.4. Under Hypothesis 3.4, there are functions  $l_1$ ,  $l_2$  and  $l_3$  of slow variation at infinity such that for Re z > 0 we have

$$f'(\sigma_0 + z) = \alpha z^{\alpha - 1} l_1(z),$$
  

$$f''(\sigma_0 + z) = \alpha (\alpha - 1) z^{\alpha - 2} l_2(z),$$
  

$$f'''(\sigma_0 + z) = \alpha (\alpha - 1) (\alpha - 2) z^{\alpha - 3} l_3(z).$$

Moreover,  $l_i(z) \to 1$  as  $z \to \infty$  for i = 1, 2, 3.

*Proof.* This follows from the arguments leading to equation A1.3 of [7] exploiting the analyticity of the Bernstein function f in the half-plane Re  $z > \sigma_0$ .

Another auxiliary result concerns the inverse of f' on the real line which defines the saddle points, cf. Remark 3.3.

LEMMA 4.5. Under Hypothesis 3.4, there is a function l<sub>4</sub> slowly varying at 0 such that

$$f'^{-1}(x) = \sigma_0 + \alpha \frac{1}{1-\alpha} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x)$$

for any x > 0. Moreover,  $l_4(x) \to 1$  as  $x \to 0$ .

*Proof.* We know by Lemma 4.4 that  $f'(\sigma_0 + x) = \alpha x^{\alpha - 1} l_1(x)$  for x > 0. Then for y > 0 we find

$$y = f'(f'^{-1}(y))$$
  
=  $f'(\sigma_0 + f'^{-1}(y) - \sigma_0)$   
=  $\alpha (f'^{-1}(y) - \sigma_0)^{\alpha - 1} l_1 (f'^{-1}(y) - \sigma_0).$ 

Rearranging yields

$$f'^{-1}(y) = \sigma_0 + (y/\alpha)^{-1/(1-\alpha)} l_4(y),$$

where  $l_4(y) = l_1(f'^{-1}(y) - \sigma_0)^{1/(1-\alpha)}$ . Since  $l_1$  is slowly varying at  $\infty$  and  $f'^{-1}(y) \to \infty$  as  $y \to 0$ , the function  $l_4$  is slowly varying at 0.

Another lemma concerns the composition of f and its derivatives with  $f^{-1}$ .

LEMMA 4.6. Under Hypothesis 3.4, we have

(i) 
$$f \circ f'^{-1}(x) = \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_5(x) + f(\sigma_0)$$

(ii) 
$$f'' \circ f'^{-1}(x) = \alpha(\alpha - 1)\alpha^{-\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_6(x)$$

(iii) 
$$f''' \circ f'^{-1}(x) = \alpha(\alpha - 1)(\alpha - 2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_7(x)$$

for  $l_5$ ,  $l_6$  and  $l_7$  slowly varying at 0. Moreover,  $l_i(x) \to 1$  as  $x \to 0$  for i = 5, 6, 7.

*Proof.* The claims follow by direct calculations using Lemmas 4.4 and 4.5.

(i) Here,

$$f \circ f'^{-1}(x) = f\left(\sigma_0 + \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{1/(\alpha-1)} l_4(x)\right)$$

$$= \left(\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{1}{\alpha-1}} l_4(x)\right)^{\alpha} l_0(\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{1}{\alpha-1}} l_4(x)) + f(\sigma_0)$$

$$= \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_5(x) + f(\sigma_0),$$

which proves the claim with  $l_5(x) = l_4(x)^{\alpha} l_0(\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{1}{\alpha-1}} l_4(x))$ .

(ii) We have

$$f'' \circ f'^{-1}(x) = f'' \left( \sigma_0 + \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right)$$

$$= \alpha(\alpha - 1) \left[ \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right]^{\alpha - 2} l_2 \left( \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right)$$

$$= \alpha(\alpha - 1) \alpha^{-\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_6(x)$$

for  $l_6(x) = l_2 \left( \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right) / l_4(x)^{2-\alpha}$  slowly varying at 0.

(iii) For the third derivative we find

$$f''' \circ f'^{-1}(x) = f''' \left( \sigma_0 + \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right)$$

$$= \alpha(\alpha - 1)(\alpha - 2) \left[ \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right]^{\alpha - 3} l_3 \left( \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right)$$

$$= \alpha(\alpha - 1)(\alpha - 2) \alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_7(x)$$

with  $l_7(x) = l_3 \left( \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} l_4(x) \right) / l_4(x)^{3-\alpha}$  slowly varying at 0.

The assertion on the limits is clear in each case.

The last two lemmas allow us to deduce an expression that is important in the application of the saddle point method.

COROLLARY 4.7. *Under Hypothesis* 3.4 we have for  $\tau$ , t > 0 that

$$\tau f'^{-1}(\tau/t) - tf \circ f'^{-1}(\tau/t) = -(1 - \alpha)\alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} \tau^{-\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} t^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} l_8(\tau/t) + \tau \sigma_0 - tf(\sigma_0),$$

for  $l_8$  slowly varying at 0. Moreover,  $\lim_{x\to 0} l_8(x) = 1$ .

*Proof.* By Lemmas 4.5 and 4.6 (i) we find for x > 0 that

$$xf'^{-1}(x) - f \circ f'^{-1}(x) = x[\sigma_0 + \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}x^{-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}l_4(x)] - [f(\sigma_0) + \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}l_5(x)]$$

$$= \alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}x^{1-\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}l_4(x) - \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}l_5(x) + \sigma_0x - f(\sigma_0)$$

$$= x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}[\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}l_4(x) - \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}l_5(x)] + \sigma_0x - f(\sigma_0).$$

Since  $\alpha^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha}} = \alpha^{1+\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}$  we can simplify this to

$$xf'^{-1}(x) - f \circ f'^{-1}(x) = \alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} [\alpha l_4(x) - l_5(x)] + \sigma_0 x - f(\sigma_0)$$
  
=  $-(1-\alpha)\alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} x^{-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}} l_8(x) + \sigma_0 x - f(\sigma_0),$ 

where 
$$l_8(x) = -\frac{\alpha l_4(x) - l_5(x)}{1 - \alpha}$$
. The claim follows with  $x = \tau/t$ .

# 4.2. Proof of the approximation of the transition density

The proof of Theorem 3.6 depends on a series of propositions that are given subsequently. Recall that we defined  $\varphi(\eta) = \tau(\xi_s + i\eta) - tf(\xi_s + i\eta)$ .

*Proof of Theorem 3.6.* The transition density is given as  $p_t(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} d\eta$ . We split the integral into four terms and treat each summand separately. Define  $\eta_0 = \tau^{\beta/(1-\alpha)} t^{\gamma/(1-\alpha)}$  for  $\beta \leq 0$  and  $\gamma \geq 0$  to be determined later. Then

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| \ge \eta_0} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2 + R(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| > \eta_0} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta, \end{split}$$

where we employed a Taylor expansion of  $\varphi$  around  $\eta = 0$  with remainder term R, see Proposition 4.10. This can be further decomposed as

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2} (e^{R(\eta)} - 1) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| \ge \eta_0} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &= \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2} \mathrm{d}\eta - \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| \ge \eta_0} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2} \mathrm{d}\eta}_{\text{Proposition 4.8}} \\ &\quad + \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi''(0) \eta^2} (e^{R(\eta)} - 1) \mathrm{d}\eta}_{\text{Proposition 4.10}} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| \ge \eta_0} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta}_{\text{Proposition 4.11}}. \end{split}$$

Each proposition entails a growth estimate in  $\tau$  and t so that we can write

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} d\eta = e^{\varphi(0)} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}} + O\left(\frac{\exp\frac{t}{2} f''(\xi_s)\eta_0^2}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}}\right) \\ + O\left(\tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+4\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{-2+4\gamma}{1-\alpha}}\right) + O\left(t^{-1}\eta_0^{1-\alpha} \exp{-\frac{1}{2}c_\alpha t \eta_0^\alpha}\right). \end{pmatrix}$$

Here,  $c_{\alpha}$  is a positive constant depending only on  $\alpha$ . By Lemma 4.6 and the definition of  $\eta_0$  we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &= e^{\varphi(0)} \left( \begin{matrix} O\left(\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}\cdot\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{1}{2}\cdot\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}\right) \\ + O\left(\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}\cdot\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{1}{2}\cdot\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}\exp{-\frac{\alpha(1-\alpha)}{2}l_6(\tau/t)\tau^{\frac{2-\alpha+2\beta}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{-1+2\gamma}{1-\alpha}}}\right) \\ + O\left(\tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+4\beta}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{-2+4\gamma}{1-\alpha}}\right) + O\left(\tau^{\beta}t^{\gamma-1}\exp{\left(-\tau^{\frac{\alpha\beta}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{1-\alpha+\gamma\alpha}{1-\alpha}}\right)}\right) \end{matrix} \right). \end{split}$$

In assertion (i) we fix t. We want the first term in the brackets to dominate all other terms in the limit  $\tau \to 0$ .

- The second term decays exponentially if  $2 \alpha + 2\beta < 0$  or  $\beta < -\frac{1}{2}(2 \alpha)$ .
- The third term grows more slowly than the first term if  $3 \alpha + 4\beta > -\frac{1}{2}(2 \alpha)$  or  $\beta > -1 + \frac{3}{8}\alpha$ . For Proposition 4.10, we require  $\beta > -1 + \frac{1}{3}\alpha$  as a lower bound, which is automatically satisfied for  $\beta > -1 + \frac{3}{8}\alpha$ .
- The fourth term decays exponentially since  $\beta < 0$ .

In assertion (ii), we fix  $\tau$  and set  $\beta = 0$ . We want the first term in the brackets to dominate all other terms in the limit  $t \to \infty$ .

- The second term decays exponentially if  $-1 + 2\gamma > 0$  or  $\gamma > \frac{1}{2}$ .
- The third term grows more slowly than the first term if  $-2 + 4\gamma^2 < \frac{1}{2}$  or  $\gamma < \frac{5}{8}$ . For Proposition 4.10 we require  $\gamma < \frac{2}{3}$  as an upper bound, which is automatically satisfied if  $\gamma < \frac{5}{9}$ .

• The fourth term decays exponentially since  $\gamma > 0$ .

This completes the proof.

The first proposition merely recalls a standard result.

PROPOSITION 4.8. We have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} d\eta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}}.$$

*Proof.* This follows from a direct calculation using  $\varphi''(0) = tf''(\xi_s)$  and the Gaussian integral  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-ax^2} dx = \sqrt{\pi/a}$ .

The second proposition estimates a truncated Gaussian integral in terms the integration limits.

PROPOSITION 4.9. We have the bound

$$\left| \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| \ge \eta_0} e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} d\eta \right| \le \frac{e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)\eta_0^2}}{\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}}$$

for any  $\eta_0 \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* 1. Recall that  $\varphi''(0) = tf''(\xi_s)$ . Then we rewrite the integral as follows.

$$\begin{split} \int_{|\eta| \geq \eta_0} e^{\frac{t}{2} f''(\xi_s) \eta^2} \mathrm{d} \eta &= \int_{-\infty}^{-\eta_0} e^{\frac{t}{2} f''(\xi_s) \eta^2} \mathrm{d} \eta + \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2} f''(\xi_s) \eta^2} \mathrm{d} \eta \\ &= 2 \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2} f''(\xi_s) \eta^2} \mathrm{d} \eta \end{split}$$

after a change of variables. Now write this as

$$\int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)\eta^2} d\eta = \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)[\eta^2 - \eta_0^2]} d\eta \cdot e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)\eta_0^2}$$

and consider the integral.

2. In the integral we make a change of variables  $\nu = \eta - \eta_0$ . Then

$$\int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)[\eta^2 - \eta_0^2]} d\eta = \int_0^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)[(\nu + \eta_0)^2 - \eta_0^2]} d\nu$$
$$= \int_0^{\infty} e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)\nu^2} \cdot e^{tf''(\xi_s)\eta_0\nu} d\nu.$$

Note that  $f''(\xi_s) < 0$  since f is a Bernstein function so that  $e^{tf''(\xi_s)\eta_0\nu} \le 1$ . This means that the integral is bounded above by  $\int_0^\infty e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)\nu^2}d\nu$ , which can be evaluated as

$$\int_0^\infty e^{\frac{t}{2}f''(\xi_s)v^2}dv = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{-tf''(\xi_s)}},$$

giving the desired result after dividing by  $2\pi$ .

The third integral entails a Taylor remainder term of  $\varphi$  on a finite range.

PROPOSITION 4.10. Set  $\eta_0 = \tau^{\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{\gamma}{1-\alpha}}$  with  $\beta > -1 + \frac{1}{3}\alpha$  and  $\gamma < 2/3$ . Let  $R(\eta)$  be the remainder term defined by  $\varphi(\eta) = \varphi(0) + \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\eta)\eta^2 + R(\eta)$ . Then given  $\tau$  there is a  $t_0(\tau)$  such that

$$\begin{split} &\left|\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0}e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2}\left(e^{R(\eta)}-1\right)d\eta\right| \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)(\alpha-2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{6\pi}l_7(\tau/t)\tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+4\beta}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{-2+4\gamma}{1-\alpha}}, \end{split}$$

for any  $t > t_0$ . Here,  $l_7$  is the function of slow variation at 0 from Lemma 4.6.

The analogous result holds if we are given t: there is a  $\tau_0(t)$  such that the inequality holds for all  $\tau < \tau_0$ .

*Proof.* 1. The representation (2) of the complete Bernstein function f yields

$$f'''(z) = \int_0^\infty \lambda^3 e^{-\lambda z} m(\lambda) d\lambda,$$

so that

$$|f'''(x+iy)| \le \int_0^\infty \lambda^3 e^{-\lambda x} m(\lambda) d\lambda$$
$$= f'''(x),$$

which is independent of the imaginary part.

2. This leads to a simple bound of  $R(\eta)$ . Since  $\varphi'''(\eta) = itf'''(\xi_s + i\eta)$ , the integral form of the remainder in Taylor's theorem reads

$$R(\eta) = \frac{it}{2} \int_0^{\eta} (\eta - s)^2 f'''(\xi_s + is) ds.$$

Thus,

$$|R(\eta)| \le \frac{t}{2} \int_0^{\eta} (\eta - s)^2 |f'''(\xi_s + is)| ds$$
  
$$\le \frac{t}{2} f'''(\xi_s) \int_0^{\eta} (\eta - s)^2 ds$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{3!} t f'''(\xi_s) \eta^3,$$

by Step 1.

3. Hence, for  $|\eta| \le \eta_0$  we have by the definition of  $\eta_0$  and by Lemma 4.6 (iii) that

$$|R(\eta)| \leq \frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)(\alpha-2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{3!} l_7(\tau/t) \tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+3\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{-2+3\gamma}{1-\alpha}}.$$

By the assumption on  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , we have  $3-\alpha+3\beta>0$  and  $-2+3\gamma<0$ . Hence,  $\tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+3\beta}{1-\alpha}}t^{\frac{-2+3\gamma}{1-\alpha}}$  decays for  $\tau\to 0$  or  $t\to \infty$ . Moreover,  $l_7$  remains bounded as  $\tau/t\to 0$  by Lemma 4.6.

This means that given  $\epsilon$ ,  $\tau > 0$ , there is a  $t_0(\tau)$  such that  $|R(\eta)| \le \epsilon$  for all  $t > t_0$ . (The analogous claim holds if we are given t instead of  $\tau$ .)

4. Choose  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $|e^x - 1| \le |x|$  for any x with  $|x| \le \epsilon$ . Then for  $t > t_0$  we have  $|e^{R(\eta)} - 1| \le |R(\eta)|$  for  $|\eta| < \eta_0(t)$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} &\left| \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} \left( e^{R(\eta)} - 1 \right) d\eta \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)(\alpha - 2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{3!} l_7(\tau/t) \tau^{\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} t^{-\frac{2}{1-\alpha}} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} |\eta|^3 e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} \mathrm{d}\eta. \end{split}$$

Since  $\varphi''(0) < 0$  we have  $e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} < 1$  so that the integral can be bounded as

$$\int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} |\eta|^3 e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} d\eta \le \eta_0^3 \cdot 2\eta_0 = 2\eta_0^4.$$

5. Overall we obtain the bound

$$\begin{split} & \left| \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\eta_0}^{\eta_0} e^{\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(0)\eta^2} (e^{R(\eta)} - 1) d\eta \right| \\ & \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)(\alpha - 2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{3!} l_7(\tau/t) \tau^{\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}} t^{-\frac{2}{1-\alpha}} \cdot 2 \left( \tau^{\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{\gamma}{1-\alpha}} \right)^4 \\ & = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{2\alpha(1-\alpha)(\alpha - 2)\alpha^{-\frac{3-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}}{3!} l_7(\tau/t) \tau^{\frac{3-\alpha+4\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{-2+4\gamma}{1-\alpha}} \end{split}$$

as desired.

The final proposition covers the most intricate integral.

PROPOSITION 4.11. Let  $\eta_0 = \tau^{\frac{\beta}{1-\alpha}} t^{\frac{\gamma}{1-\alpha}}$  for  $\beta < 0$  and  $\gamma > 0$ . Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.6 we have for  $\tau/t$  sufficiently small that

$$\left| \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{|\eta| > \eta_0} e^{-t\varphi(\eta)} d\eta \right| \le e^{\varphi(0)} \times O\left(t^{-1} \eta_0^{1-\alpha} \exp{-\frac{1}{2} c_\alpha t \eta_0^\alpha}\right),$$

where  $c_{\alpha} = -a_0 \Gamma(-\alpha) \cos(\frac{\alpha \pi}{2})$ .

*Proof.* 1. We consider the integral for on  $[\eta_0, \infty)$  in detail, the integral on  $(-\infty, \eta_0]$  being treated analogously. Using the definition of  $\varphi$  we rewrite the integral as

$$\left| \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} d\eta \right| = \left| e^{\varphi(0)} \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta) - \varphi(0)} d\eta \right|$$

$$= e^{\varphi(0)} \left| \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{i\tau \eta - t(f(\xi_s + i\eta) - f(\xi_s))} d\eta \right|$$

$$\leq e^{\varphi(0)} \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{-t\text{Re} (f(\xi_s + i\eta) - f(\xi_s))} d\eta,$$

since  $\varphi(0)$  is real.

2. Since  $\xi_s \to \infty$  as  $\tau/t \to 0$ , we have  $\xi_s > 0$  for  $\tau/t$  suitably small. From Proposition 4.1, we thus have

Re 
$$f(\xi_s + i\eta) - f(\xi_s) = -a_0\Gamma(-\alpha)\cos(\frac{\alpha\pi}{2})|\eta|^{\alpha} + R(\xi_s, \eta)$$
,

where R is a function such that  $|\eta|^{-\alpha} R(\xi_s, \eta) \to 0$  as  $|\eta| \to \infty$  uniformly in  $\xi_s$ .

Thus, we have the bound

$$\left| \int_{n_0}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} d\eta \right| \leq e^{\varphi(0)} \int_{n_0}^{\infty} e^{-c_{\alpha}t\eta^{\alpha}(1+c_{\alpha}^{-1}\eta^{-\alpha}R(\xi_s,\eta))} d\eta,$$

with  $c_{\alpha} = -a_0 \Gamma(-\alpha) \cos(\frac{\alpha \pi}{2})$  which is positive.

Recall that by its definition,  $\eta_0$  can be made as large as one likes by choosing

 $\tau/t$  sufficiently small. Since  $\eta^{-\alpha}R(\xi_s, \eta)$  tends to zero as  $\eta \to \infty$  uniformly in  $\xi_s$ , there is an  $\eta_0$  (and hence a suitable combination of  $\tau$  and t) such that for  $\eta > \eta_0$ , we have  $|1 + c_{\alpha}^{-1}\eta^{-\alpha}R(\xi_s, \eta)| < 1/2$ .

This means that for  $\tau$  suitably small (or t suitably large), we obtain the bound

$$\left| \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{\varphi(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta \right| \leq e^{\varphi(0)} \int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta^{\alpha}} \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

which one can make explicit.

3. In the last integral, we make the change in variables  $u = \frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta^{\alpha}$  which leads to

$$\int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta^{\alpha}} d\eta = \frac{1}{\alpha} (\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t)^{-1/\alpha} \int_{\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta_0^{\alpha}}^{\infty} u^{1/\alpha - 1} e^{-u} du,$$

The integral on the right hand side is the incomplete Gamma function typically denoted by  $\Gamma(s,x) = \int_x^\infty u^{s-1} e^{-u} du$ . For the limit  $x \to \infty$  one has the asymptotics

$$\frac{\Gamma(s,x)}{x^{s-1}e^{-x}} \to 1$$

so that  $\Gamma(s, x)$  is  $O(x^{s-1}e^{-x})$ . In our situation,  $s = 1/\alpha$  and  $x = \frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta_0^{\alpha}$  we have

$$\int_{\eta_0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta^{\alpha}}\mathrm{d}\eta = O\left(t^{-1/\alpha}(\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta_0^{\alpha})^{1/\alpha-1}\exp{-\frac{1}{2}c_{\alpha}t\eta_0^{\alpha}}\right),$$

proving the claim upon collecting powers in t.

*Proof of Corollary 3.8.* We must compute the function  $e^{\varphi(0)}/\sqrt{-2\pi t f''(\xi_s)}$ . For the exponent, we find by Corollary 4.7 that

$$\tau f'^{-1}(\tau/t) - tf \circ f'^{-1}(\tau/t) = -(1 - \alpha)\alpha^{\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} \tau^{-\frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}} t^{\frac{1}{1 - \alpha}} l_8(\tau/t) + \tau \sigma_0 - tf(\sigma_0)$$

for  $l_8$  a slowly varying function at 0 with  $\lim_{x\to 0} l_8(x) = 1$ . By Lemma 4.6 (ii) we compute the denominator as

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{-2\pi t f'' \circ f'^{-1}(\tau/t)} &= \sqrt{-2\pi t \cdot \alpha(\alpha-1)\alpha^{-\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}(\tau/t)^{\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}l_6(\tau/t)} \\ &= \sqrt{2\pi\alpha(1-\alpha)\alpha^{-\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}l_6(\tau/t)}\tau^{\frac{1}{2}\frac{2-\alpha}{1-\alpha}}t^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{1-\alpha}}. \end{split}$$

Combining the exponent and denominator, we arrive at the claim.

# 5. Proof of the heat kernel asymptotics

This section contains the proofs of the different characterisations of the zeta function and the general heat kernel asymptotics.

## 5.1. Definition of the zeta function and relation with the heat kernel

We first show that the definition of the zeta function make sense using the growth estimates from Proposition 4.1.

LEMMA 5.1. Assume Hypothesis 3.4. Choose a real number  $c \in (\sigma_0, 0)$ , a real number a such that  $\operatorname{Re} f(c+i\eta) + a > 0$  for all  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$  and fix  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then the integral

$$\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \int_{c-i\infty}^\infty t^{s-1} h(\tau; x, y) e^{\tau \xi - t[f(\xi) + a]} d\xi d\tau dt \tag{15}$$

converges absolutely for any Re  $s>1/\alpha$ . Here,  $h(\tau;x,y)=(2\pi\tau)^{-n/2}\exp(-d(x,y)^2/4\tau)$  is the heat kernel of a standard Brownian motion.

As a consequence, we may change the order of integration in (15) so that in particular the definition of the zeta function in (7) makes sense.

REMARK 5.2. Note that given c such an a exists as Proposition 4.1 (iii) guarantees that the function  $\eta \mapsto \text{Re } f(c+i\eta)$  is eventually positive when  $|\eta|$  becomes large so that it can only be negative on a bounded set. By continuity this function it must assume a minimum value on that set, and this determines a lower bound for a.

*Proof.* To show that the absolute value of the integrand is integrable note that

$$\begin{split} \left| t^{s-1} h(\tau; x, y) e^{\tau(c+i\eta) - t[f(c+i\eta) + a]} \right| &= t^{\text{Re } s-1} h(\tau; x, y) e^{c\tau} e^{-t[\text{Re } f(c+i\eta) + a]} \\ &\leq (2\pi)^{-n/2} \cdot t^{\text{Re } s-1} e^{-t[\text{Re } f(c+i\eta) + a]} \\ &\quad \cdot \tau^{-n/2} e^{c\tau - d^2/4\tau}. \end{split}$$

The right hand is integrable, and we address this in some detail. By the Fubini-Tonelli Theorem, if the triple integral converges for some ordering of the integrals, then it converges for any ordering. We thus consider the integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{\operatorname{Re} s - 1} e^{-t[\operatorname{Re} f(c + i\eta) + a]} \cdot \tau^{-n/2} e^{c\tau - d^2/4\tau} d\tau dt d\eta.$$

Now observe the following:

- The  $\tau$ -integration can be done without problems as we assumed c < 0.
- The *t*-integration is a standard Mellin integral that gives

$$\int_0^\infty t^{\operatorname{Re} s - 1} e^{-t[\operatorname{Re} f(c + i\eta) + a]} dt = [\operatorname{Re} f(c + i\eta) + a]^{-\operatorname{Re} s} \Gamma(\operatorname{Re} s),$$

cf. formula 6.3(1) of [19] whenever Re s>0 as Re  $f(c+\xi)+a>0$  by assumption.

Thus we end up considering

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [\operatorname{Re} f(c+i\eta) + a]^{-\operatorname{Re} s} \, \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

Now estimate Re  $f(c+i\eta) + a$  in terms of  $\eta$ . By the choice of a, the integrand is everywhere strictly positive. Moreover, by Proposition 4.1 (ii) we can write

Re 
$$f(c+i\eta) = f(c) + c_{\alpha}|\eta|^{\alpha} + R(c,\eta)$$

for a function R such that  $|\eta|^{-\alpha}R(c,\eta)\to 0$  as  $|\eta|\to\infty$ . Here,  $c_\alpha$  is a positive constant that depends on  $\alpha$ . So the  $\eta$ -integral converges if  $\alpha \text{Re } s>1$ .

This proves the claim.

5.2. Different characterisations of the zeta function

In Theorem 3.12, we gave three characterisations of the zeta function.

*Proof of Theorem 3.12.* We write  $\zeta(s)$  instead of  $\zeta(s; x, y)$ .

(i) Suppose first that Re  $s > 1/\alpha$ . Plugging (4) and (6) into the definition of  $\zeta(s)$  gives

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty h_\tau \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{\tau \xi - t[f(\xi) + a]} d\xi dt d\tau.$$

By Lemma 5.1 (absolute convergence), we may swap the integrals as

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \int_0^\infty h_\tau e^{\tau \xi} d\tau \cdot \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} e^{-t[f(\xi)+a]} dt d\xi,$$

and we evaluate each inner integral explicitly.

1. Standard results on the Mellin transform yield

$$\int_0^\infty t^{s-1} e^{-t[f(\xi)+a]} dt = [f(\xi)+a]^{-s} \Gamma(s),$$

see proof of Lemma 5.1.

2. For the heat kernel on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  we have  $h_{\tau}(x, y) = (2\pi\tau)^{-n/2} \exp(-d(x, y)^2/4\tau)$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty h_\tau e^{\tau \xi} \mathrm{d}\tau &= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_0^\infty \tau^{-n/2} \exp\left(\tau \xi - d^2/4\tau\right) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= (2\pi)^{-n/2} \cdot 2\left(\frac{d^2/4}{-\xi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}\nu} K_{-\nu} \left(2\left(\frac{d(x,y)^2}{4}(-\xi)\right)^{1/2}\right), \end{split}$$

with  $\nu = n/2 - 1$  again by [19, equation 6.3.(17)] where  $K_{\nu}$  is a modified Bessel function of the second kind. Since  $K_{\nu}(z) = K_{-\nu}(z)$  we find

$$\int_0^\infty h_\tau e^{\tau \xi} d\tau = 2(2\pi)^{-n/2} (d/2)^{-\nu} (-\xi)^{\nu/2} K_\nu (d(-\xi)^{1/2}),$$

proving the claim.

- 3. The extension to all  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  follows from asymptotic properties of the modified Bessel functions of the second kind: recall that  $K_{\nu}(z) \sim z^{-\nu}$  at z=0 and  $K_{\nu}(z) \sim z^{-1/2}e^{-z}$  as  $z \to \infty$  with  $|\arg(z)| < 3\pi/2$ , cf. [44, Chapter 7.23, equation (1)]. Note here that the square root in the argument of  $K_{\nu}$  ensures that when integrating along a parallel to the imaginary axis, the real part of  $(-\xi)^{1/2}$  tends to infinity when  $|\xi| \to \infty$ , so that the exponential decay is effective.
  - (ii) The expression for the zeta function in (8) is a line integral along a parallel to the imaginary axis. We deform the contour to a keyhole contour that encloses the cut  $(-\infty, \sigma_0]$ . This is allowed by the exponential decay of the integrand and the fact that the integrand is holomorphic on the left half-plane minus the cut.

Let  $\epsilon > 0$ . The integral along the keyhole contour can be decomposed into the sum of three integrals along curves  $\Gamma_{A,\epsilon}$ ,  $\Gamma_{B,\epsilon}$  and  $\Gamma_{C,\epsilon}$  which are given as follows:

- $\Gamma_{A,\epsilon}$  covers the "upper" part of the cut from  $\sigma_0$  to  $-\infty$ . It is parametrised as  $\sigma_0 + re^{i\pi}$  for  $r \in [\epsilon, \infty)$ .
- $\Gamma_{B,\epsilon}$  covers the circular arc parametrised as  $\sigma_0 + \epsilon e^{i\theta}$  with  $\theta \in (-\pi, \pi]$ .
- $\Gamma_{C,\epsilon}$  covers the "lower" part of the cut from  $-\infty$  to  $\sigma_0$ . It is parametrised as  $\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi}$  for  $r \in [\epsilon, \infty)$ .

We simplify or estimate the integrals separately.

1. For  $\Gamma_{A,\epsilon}$  we find that

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{A,\epsilon}} [f(\xi) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\xi}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\xi}\right) \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} [f(\sigma_0 + re^{i\pi}) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}\right) dr. \end{split}$$

2. On  $\Gamma_{B,\epsilon}$  we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{B,\epsilon}} [f(\xi) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\xi}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\xi}\right) \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} [f(\sigma_0 + \epsilon e^{i\theta}) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\xi}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\xi}\right) \cdot i\epsilon e^{i\theta} \mathrm{d}r. \end{split}$$

Since f is bounded in a neighbourhood of  $\sigma_0$  and the other factors in the integrand are analytic there, the integral converges to 0 as  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

3. For  $\Gamma_{C,\epsilon}$  we find that

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{C,\epsilon}} [f(\xi) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\xi}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\xi}) \mathrm{d}\xi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\infty}^{\epsilon} [f(\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi}) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}) \mathrm{d}r \\ &= -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} [f(\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi}) + a]^{-s} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x,y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}) \mathrm{d}r \end{split}$$

The claim follows once we let  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

(iii) In coordinates x' on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the Laplace operator is  $\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i'^2}$ . The Green's function for the operator  $-\Delta + \lambda^2$  is given by

$$C(x', y') = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \left( \frac{d(x', y')}{\lambda} \right)^{1 - n/2} K_{n/2 - 1}(\lambda d(x', y')),$$

cf. for example [40, Chapter 3.6]. Noting that this only depends on the distance  $\rho = d(x', y')$ , we can express the Green's function as  $C(x', y') = R_{n,d}^b(\rho)$ , where the function  $R_{n,d}^b$  satisfies the ODE

$$\left(\frac{d^2}{d\rho^2} + \frac{n-1}{\rho} - \lambda^2\right) R_{n,d}^b(\rho) = 0$$

for  $\rho > 0$ , the notation is as in [40].

So the solution of

$$\left[-\Delta + d(x, y)^2\right]u_s = v_s,$$

with

$$v_s(y') = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \mathbb{1}_{\{||y'|| \ge \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{\text{vol}(S^{n-1})d(x, y)^{2\nu}} g_s\left(\sigma_0 + ||y'||^2\right) ||y'||^{2\nu+1}$$

is given by

$$u_s(x') = \int_{y' \in \mathbb{R}^n} v_s(y') C(x', y') dy'.$$

Switching to polar coordinates  $(\rho, \omega)$  we find upon writing d instead of d(x, y) that  $u_s(0)$  is given by

$$\begin{split} & \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{S^{n-1}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{d^{2\nu}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} (\text{vol}(S^{n-1}))^{-1} g_s(\sigma_0 + \rho^2) \rho^{2\nu+1} R_{n,d}^b(\rho) d\omega d\rho \\ & = \text{vol}(S^{n-1}) \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{d^{2\nu}} \mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} (\text{vol}(S^{n-1}))^{-1} g_s(\sigma_0 + \rho^2) \rho^{2\nu+1} R_{n,d}^b(\rho) d\rho \\ & = \int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{d^{2\nu}} g_s(\sigma_0 + \rho^2) \rho^{2\nu+1} R_{n,d}^b(\rho) d\rho, \end{split}$$

where d = d(x, y). On the other hand,  $\zeta(s)$  can be expressed as

$$\begin{split} &\frac{2^{\nu+1}}{2\pi i} \int_0^\infty g_s(r) \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0+r}}{d}\right)^{2\nu} \cdot (2\pi)^{-n/2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0+r}}{d}\right)^{-\nu} K_{\nu}(d\sqrt{-\sigma_0+r}) \mathrm{d}r \\ &= \frac{2^{\nu+1}}{2\pi i} \int_0^\infty g_s(r) \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0+r}}{d}\right)^{2\nu} R_{n,d}^b(\sqrt{-\sigma_0+r}) \mathrm{d}r. \end{split}$$

The change in variables  $\rho = \sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}$  leads to

$$\zeta(s) = \frac{2^{\nu+1}}{2\pi i} \int_{-\sigma_0}^{\infty} g_s(\sigma_0 + \rho^2) \left(\frac{\rho}{d}\right)^{2\nu} R_{n,d}^b(\rho) \cdot 2\rho d\rho$$

$$= \int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{d^{2\nu}} g_s(\sigma_0 + \rho^2) \rho^{2\nu+1} R_{n,d}^b(\rho) d\rho$$

$$= u_s(0),$$

which proves the claim.

We next prove the relationship between the zeta function and the heat kernel.

- *Proof of Corollary* 3.14. 1. Entirety of  $\zeta$ . We have already seen in Step 2 of the proof of Theorem 3.12 (i) that the integral (7) for the zeta function makes sense for any Re s>0. The claims then follow from the properties of the modified Bessel functions  $K_{\nu}$  given in Step 3 of the proof of Theorem 3.12 (i). Since f grows like  $z^{\alpha}$  as  $z\to\infty$  by Lemma 4.2, the exponential decay of  $K_{\nu}$  ensures convergence of the line integral (8) for any Re s<0.
  - 2. Behaviour at the origin. From the behaviour of  $K_{\nu}$  at z=0 we see that the function  $z^{\nu}K_{\nu}(z)$  has a removable singularity at the origin, hence can be extended to an analytic function. Thus, for s=0 the integrand is analytic in the left halfplane. We close the contour using a semicircle of radius R. The integral along the arc tends to zero by the exponential decay of the Bessel function. Cauchy's Theorem yields the claim on the value of the zeta function at the origin.
  - 3. Consequence for the heat kernel. The relationship with the heat kernel is standard, cf. [24]. The Mellin transform turns poles of the left hand side into powers of t in the right hand side. All poles of the left hand side are due to the simple poles of the  $\Gamma$  function at the points z = -k with  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and corresponding residue  $(-1)^k/k!$ . The term for k = 0 vanishes by assumption.

# 5.3. Approximation of the heat kernel coefficients

The key building block for the general situation is the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable process. We slightly generalise the corresponding Laplace exponent but keep the term "tempered stable" for the zeta function to ease the presentation.

PROPOSITION 5.3. Fix  $\sigma_0 < 0$  and let  $f(z) = (-\sigma_0 + z)^{\alpha} + a$ , where a is an arbitrary real number. Then for  $\alpha$  irrational and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  we have

$$\zeta(-k) = -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} {k \choose l} \frac{\alpha l}{\Gamma(1-\alpha l)} a^{k-l} \sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{n+2\alpha l}$$
$$\times \left[ F_{\alpha,l} \left( -\sigma_0 \frac{d(x,y)^2}{4} \right) + G_{\alpha,l} \left( -\sigma_0 \frac{d(x,y)^2}{4} \right) \right],$$

where

$$F_{\alpha,l}(z) = \frac{1}{z^{\frac{n}{2} + \alpha l}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \Gamma(-m + \frac{n}{2} + \alpha l) z^m$$

$$G_{\alpha,l}(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \Gamma(-m - \frac{n}{2} - \alpha l) z^m.$$

The series converge absolutely for all values of z.

REMARK 5.4. The case  $\alpha$  rational is treated analogously yet leads to a logarithmic terms in  $d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0}/2$  in  $F_{\alpha,l}$  and  $G_{\alpha,l}$ , cf. Step 3 in the following proof. We note, however, that the lowest orders in z are unaffected by this change. The reader is referred to the proof of Theorem 3.4 in [21] for detailed arguments.

*Proof.* 1. A simple calculation for s = -k yields

$$g_{-k}(r) = f(\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi})^k - f(\sigma_0 + re^{i\pi})^k$$
$$= \sum_{l=0}^k {k \choose l} r^{\alpha l} (e^{-i\pi\alpha l} - e^{i\pi\alpha l}) a^{k-l}$$
$$= -2i \sum_{l=0}^k {k \choose l} r^{\alpha l} \sin(\alpha \pi l) a^{k-l}.$$

The zeta function is expressed by the integral (9) as

$$\zeta(-k) = -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{2^{\nu+1}}{d(x, y)^{\nu}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} {k \choose l} \frac{\sin(\alpha \pi l)}{\pi} a^{k-l}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{\alpha l} \sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r^{\nu}} K_{\nu} \left( d(x, y) \sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r} \right) dr,$$

where v = n/2 - 1. In the integral we make a change in variables  $\rho = \sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}$  to obtain

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{\alpha l} \sqrt{-\sigma_{0} + r^{\nu}} K_{\nu} \left( d(x, y) \sqrt{-\sigma_{0} + r} \right) dr$$

$$= \int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}^{\infty} (\rho^{2} + \sigma_{0})^{\alpha l} \rho^{\nu} K_{\nu} (d(x, y) \rho) 2\rho d\rho$$

$$= 2 \int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}^{\infty} (\rho^{2} + \sigma_{0})^{\alpha l} \rho^{\nu+1} K_{\nu} (d(x, y) \rho) d\rho. \tag{16}$$

2. We cannot evaluate this integral in closed form so we derive an asymptotic approximation valid for small values of d(x, y). We employ the Handelsman-Lew method [8]. The Plancherel formula reads

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}^{\infty} (\rho^2 + \sigma_0)^{\alpha l} \rho^{\nu+1} K_{\nu}(d(x, y)\rho) d\rho \\ & = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Omega \cup \mathbb{R}^{D}} M[\mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} (\rho^2 + \sigma_0)^{\alpha l}; z] \cdot M[\rho^{\nu+1} K_{\nu}(d(x, y)\rho); 1 - z] dz, \end{split}$$

where *c* is in the intersection of the strips of analyticity of the two Mellin transforms. We compute the transforms separately in terms of special functions.

(a) To compute  $M[\mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}}(\rho^2 + \sigma_0)^{\alpha l}; z]$  we make a change in variables  $u = \rho/\sqrt{-\sigma_0}$  that allows us to write

$$M\left[\mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}}(\rho^2 + \sigma_0)^{\alpha l}; z\right] = \int_0^\infty \mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}} \left(\rho^2 + \sigma_0\right)^{\alpha l} \rho^{z-1} d\rho$$

$$= \sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{z-1+2\alpha+1} \int_0^\infty \mathbb{1}_{\{u \geq 1\}} \left(u^2 - 1\right)^{\alpha l} u^{z-1} du$$

$$= \sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{z+2\alpha l} \cdot \frac{1}{2} B(-z/2 - \alpha l, 1 + \alpha l),$$

where the last line follows from [19, equation 6.2.(32)]. Since  $B(a, b) = \frac{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)}{\Gamma(a+b)}$  we find

$$M\left[\mathbb{1}_{\{\rho \geq \sqrt{-\sigma_0}\}}(\rho^2 + \sigma_0)^{\alpha l}; z\right] = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{z+2\alpha l}\Gamma(1+\alpha l)\frac{\Gamma(-\frac{z}{2}-\alpha l)}{\Gamma(1-\frac{z}{2})}.$$

This function is defined for Re  $z < -2\alpha l$ .

(b) The second Mellin transform can also be evaluated in terms of the Gamma function. By [19, equation 6.8.(26)] we have

$$M\left[\rho^{\nu+1}K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\rho);z\right] = d(x,y)^{-(z+\nu+1)}2^{z+\nu-1}\Gamma(\frac{z+1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{z+2\nu+1}{2}).$$

Upon reflection at z = 1 we find

$$M\left[\rho^{\nu+1}K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\rho); 1-z\right] = d(x,y)^{z-(\nu+2)}2^{-z+\nu}\Gamma(1-\frac{z}{2})\Gamma(1+\nu-\frac{z}{2}),$$

which is defined for Re z < 2(1 + v).

3. Thus, we can write (16) as

$$\begin{split} &2\int_{\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}^{\infty}(\rho^2+\sigma_0)^{\alpha l}\rho^{\nu+1}K_{\nu}(d(x,y)\rho)d\rho\\ &=\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{c+i\mathbb{R}}\sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{z+2\alpha l}\Gamma(1+\alpha l)\frac{\Gamma(-\frac{z}{2}-\alpha l)}{\Gamma(1-\frac{z}{2})}\\ &\quad\times d(x,y)^{z-(\nu+2)}2^{-z+\nu}\Gamma(1-\frac{z}{2})\Gamma(1+\nu-\frac{z}{2})\mathrm{d}z\\ &=\Gamma(1+\alpha l)\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0}^{2\alpha l}2^{\nu}}{d(x,y)^{\nu+2}}\\ &\quad\cdot\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{c+i\mathbb{R}}\left(\frac{d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}{2}\right)^z\Gamma(-\frac{z}{2}-\alpha l)\Gamma(-\frac{z}{2}+1+\nu)\mathrm{d}z, \end{split}$$

where  $c < -2\alpha l$ . Denote the integrand by H(z). Clearly, H can be extended to a meromorphic function defined on the whole complex plane. It has poles located at the points where the Gamma functions have poles. Since  $\alpha$  is irrational, we cannot have double poles. Thus, the integrand has simple poles

only at the points  $z_m = 2m - 2\alpha l$  for  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  due to the first Gamma function with residue

$$\operatorname{res}_{z=z_m} H(z) = \left(\frac{d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}{2}\right)^{2m-2\alpha l} \cdot \frac{(-1)^m}{m!} \cdot \Gamma(-m+\alpha l+1+\nu).$$

The second Gamma function has simple poles at the points  $w_m = 2m + 2 + 2v$  with residues

$$\operatorname{res}_{z=w_m} H(z) = \left(\frac{d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0}}{2}\right)^{2m+2+2\nu} \cdot \Gamma(-m-1-\nu-\alpha l) \cdot \frac{(-1)^m}{m!}$$

Note that the Gamma function (and hence H) decays exponentially as  $|\text{Im } z| \to \infty$  by the estimates in [35, Chapter 2.4.3] so that we can move the contour across the poles of H and incur a residue by Cauchy's theorem.

Note that double poles can occur if  $\alpha$  is rational. The poles of the Gamma functions coincide if  $\alpha = n/l$ , leading to logarithmic terms in  $d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0}/2$ .

4. The remainder integral can be bounded in powers of d so that we have the desired asymptotic expansion for small d. The first step in this scheme moves the contour across the residue at  $z_0 = -2\alpha l$ . Using the reflection formula  $\Gamma(1-z)\Gamma(z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi z}$ , this yields the formal series

$$\begin{split} \zeta(-k) &= -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{2^{\nu+2}}{d(x,y)^{\nu}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} \frac{\sin(\alpha\pi l)}{\pi} a^{k-l} \Gamma(1+\alpha l) \frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}^{2\alpha l} 2^{\nu}}{d(x,y)^{\nu+2}} \\ &\times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \frac{d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}{2} \right)^{2m-2\alpha l} \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \cdot \Gamma(-m+\alpha l+1+\nu) \right. \\ &\quad + \left( \frac{d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}{2} \right)^{2m+2+2\nu} \cdot \Gamma(-m-1-\nu-\alpha l) \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \right] \\ &= -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \frac{2^{n}}{d(x,y)^{n}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha l)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha l)\Gamma(\alpha l)} a^{k-l} \sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}^{2\alpha l} \\ &\times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \frac{d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}{2} \right)^{2m-2\alpha l} \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \cdot \Gamma(-m+\alpha l+n/2) \right. \\ &\quad + \left. \left( \frac{d(x,y)\sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}}{2} \right)^{2m+n} \cdot \Gamma(-m-n/2-\alpha l) \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \right] \\ &= -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{n/2}} \left( \frac{2}{d(x,y)} \right)^{n} \sum_{l=0}^{k} \binom{k}{l} \frac{\alpha l}{\Gamma(1-\alpha l)} a^{k-l} \\ &\quad \times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \frac{d(x,y)}{2} \right)^{2m-2\alpha l} \sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}^{2m} \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \cdot \Gamma(-m+\alpha l+\frac{n}{2}) \right. \\ &\quad + \left. \left( \frac{d(x,y)}{2} \right)^{2m+n} \sqrt{-\sigma_{0}}^{n+2\alpha l+2m} \cdot \frac{(-1)^{m}}{m!} \cdot \Gamma(-m-\frac{n}{2}-\alpha l) \right], \end{split}$$

as required.

5. It remains to show that the series for  $F_{\alpha,l}$  and  $G_{\alpha,l}$  converge absolutely. We present the argument for  $F_{\alpha,l}$ , the claim for  $G_{\alpha,l}$  is proved similarly. It suffices to estimate the growth of  $\Gamma(\frac{n}{2} + \alpha l - m)$ . By the reflection formula for the Gamma function  $\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi z}$  we find with  $z = 1 - \frac{n}{2} - \alpha l + m$  that

$$\Gamma(\frac{n}{2} + \alpha l - m) = \frac{\pi}{(-1)^m \sin(\frac{n}{2} + \alpha l)\pi} \cdot \frac{1}{\Gamma(1 - \frac{n}{2} - \alpha l + m)}.$$

Thus,  $F_{\alpha,l}$  becomes

$$F_{\alpha,l}(z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin(\frac{n}{2} + \alpha l)\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m! \cdot \Gamma(1 - \frac{n}{2} - \alpha l + m)}.$$

The summands are positive and the growth of the Gamma function ensures convergence.

We now address the general case. For our class of subordinators, the asymptotic expansion of the Lévy density at 0 ensures that the relativistic  $\alpha$  stable process is the basic building block and gives the lowest order heat kernel coefficients.

*Proof of Theorem 3.16.* Denote the zeta function of Proposition 5.3 by  $\zeta_{RS}$ . If we can show that  $\zeta(-1) = \zeta_{RS}(-1) + O\left(d(x,y)^{-n}\right)$  as  $d(x,y) \to 0$ , then the assertion follows.

1. We decompose the Laplace exponent into a part corresponding to the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable subordinator and remainder terms that can be controlled. Using (2) we write

$$f(z) = \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) m(\lambda) d\lambda$$

$$= a_0 \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) \lambda^{-1 - \alpha} e^{\sigma_0 \lambda} d\lambda + \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) \left[ m(\lambda) - a_0 \lambda^{-1 - \alpha} e^{\sigma_0 \lambda} \right]$$

$$= a_0 \left[ (-\sigma_0 + z)^\alpha - (-\sigma_0)^\alpha \right] + \int_0^\infty (1 - e^{-\lambda z}) \overline{m}(\lambda) d\lambda,$$

where  $\overline{m}(\lambda) = m(\lambda) - a_0 \lambda^{-1-\alpha} e^{\sigma_0 \lambda}$ . Since by construction  $\overline{m}$  is integrable, we can write

$$f(z) = a_0(-\sigma_0 + z)^{\alpha} + b - \overline{f}(z),$$
 (17)

with  $b = -a_0(-\sigma_0)^{\alpha} + \int_0^{\infty} \overline{m}(\lambda) d\lambda$  and  $\bar{f}(z) = \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\lambda z} \overline{m}(\lambda) d\lambda$ .

2. We now derive an upper bound for  $\bar{f}$  in terms of z. To this end we apply the generalised Watson's Lemma from [45, Chapter I.5]. Since we assumed that the asymptotic expansion of m around 0 is valid in all directions, we have an

asymptotic expansion of  $\bar{f}(z)$  for  $z \to \infty$  that holds in whichever direction z approaches infinity:

$$f(z) \sim a_1 \Gamma(1 + \alpha_1) z^{-(1+\alpha_1)} + a_1 \Gamma(1 + \alpha_2) z^{-(1+\alpha_2)} + \cdots$$

In particular, we have  $\lim_{z\to\infty} z^{1+\alpha_1} \bar{f}(z) = a_1$ . So the definition of limits translates to the following estimate: for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there is an R > 0 such that |z| > R implies

$$|\bar{f}(z)| < a_1|z|^{-(1+\alpha_1)} + \epsilon R^{-(1+\alpha_1)},$$

which is the desired bound.

- 3. The decomposition (17) allows us to approximate the zeta function for f using the representation (9). For s = -1, the zeta function is linear in f so that we consider the three terms in (17) separately.
  - The first term  $a_0(-\sigma_0 + z)^{\alpha}$  leads to the zeta function for the relativistic  $\alpha$ -stable process so we obtain  $a_0\zeta_{RS}(-1)$  as the contribution.
  - The constant term b makes no contribution since the corresponding  $g_{-1}$  is zero.
  - It remains to estimate the term corresponding to  $\bar{f}$  in terms of d(x, y) and show that it does not contribute at the lowest order. In (9) we set  $g_{-1}(r) = \bar{f}(\sigma_0 + re^{-i\pi}) \bar{f}(\sigma_0 + re^{i\pi})$ . Then by Step 2 we have the bound

$$|g_{-1}(r)| < 2a_1(-\sigma_0 + r)^{-(1+\alpha_1)} + 2\epsilon R^{-(1+\alpha_1)}$$

by the triangle inequality.

This shows that

$$\begin{split} |\zeta(-1)| &\leq \frac{2a_1 \cdot 2^{\nu+1}}{(2\pi)^{n/2+1}} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{(-\sigma_0 + r)^{1+\alpha_1}} \\ &\times \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x, y)}\right)^{\nu} K_{\nu} \left(d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}\right) \mathrm{d}r \\ &+ \frac{2\epsilon R^{-(1+\alpha_1)} \cdot 2^{\nu+1}}{(2\pi)^{n/2+1}} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}}{d(x, y)}\right)^{\nu} \\ &\times K_{\nu} \left(d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}\right) \mathrm{d}r. \end{split}$$

A change in variables in each integral of the form  $u = d(x, y)\sqrt{-\sigma_0 + r}$  leads to estimates of  $O(d(x, y)^{-n+2(1+\alpha_1)})$  for the first integral and  $O(d(x, y)^{-n})$  for the second integral. This completes the proof.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

#### REFERENCES

- D. Applebaum. Lévy Processes and Stochastic Calculus, volume 116 of Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2009.
- [2] M. F. Atiyah. The heat equation in Riemannian geometry (after Patodi, Gilkey, etc.). In Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1973/1974, 26ème année, Exp. No. 436, volume 431 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 1–11. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
- [3] M.T. Barlow, A. Grigor'yan, and T. Kumagai. Heat kernel upper bounds for jump processes and the first exit time. *J. Reine Angew. Math.*, 626:135–157, 2009.
- [4] O.E. Barndorff-Nielsen, T. Mikosch, and S.I. Resnick, editors. Lévy Processes: Theory and Applications. 2001. Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001.
- [5] N. Berline, E. Getzler, and M. Vergne. Heat kernels and Dirac operators. Grundlehren Text Editions. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [6] J. Bertoin. Lévy Processes, volume 121 of Cambridge Tracts in Math. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [7] N.H. Bingham, C.M. Goldie, and J.L. Teugels. Regular Variation, volume 27 of Encyclopedia Math. Appl. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1989.
- [8] N. Bleistein and R.A. Handelsman. Asymptotic Expansions of Integrals. Dover, New York, 1986.
- [9] S.I. Boyarchenko and S.Z. Levendorskii. Non-Gaussian Merton-Black-Scholes theory, volume 9 of Adv. Ser. Stat. Sci. Appl. Probab. World Scientific, River Edge, NJ, 2002.
- [10] O. Calin, D.-C. Chang, K. Furutani, and C. Iwasaki. Heat Kernels for Elliptic and Sub-Elliptic Operators. Methods and Techniques. Appl. Numer. Harmon. Anal. Birkhäuser, New York, 2011.
- [11] E. A. Carlen, S. Kusuoka, and D.W. Stroock. Upper bounds for symmetric Markov transition functions. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 23(2, suppl.):245–287, 1987.
- [12] Z.-Q. Chen. Symmetric jump processes and their heat kernel estimates. Sci. China (Ser. A), 52(7):1423–1445, 2009.
- [13] Z.-Q. Chen, P. Kim, and T. Kumagai. Global heat kernel estimates for symmetric jump processes. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 363(9):5021–5055, 2011.
- [14] Z.-Q. Chen, P. Kim, and R. Song. Sharp heat kernel estimates for relativistic stable processes in open sets. Ann. Probab., 40(1):213–244, 2012.
- [15] Z.-Q. Chen and T. Kumagai. Heat kernel estimates for jump processes of mixed types on metric measure spaces. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 140(1-2):277–317, 2008.
- [16] R. Cont and P. Tankov. Financial Modelling with Jump Processes. Chapman & Hall/CRC Financial Mathematics Series. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2004.
- [17] E.T. Copson. Asymptotic Expansions, volume 55 of Cambridge Tracts in Math. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1965.
- [18] E.B. Davies. Heat Kernels and Spectral Theory, volume 92 of Cambridge Tracts in Math. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [19] A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and F.G. Tricomi. *Tables of Integral Transforms. Vol. I.* McGraw-Hill, New York, 1954.
- [20] M.A. Fahrenwaldt. Heat trace asymptotics of subordinate Brownian motion on Euclidean space. Potential Anal., 44:331–354, 2016.
- [21] M.A. Fahrenwaldt. Off-diagonal heat kernel asymptotics of pseudodifferential operators on closed manifolds and subordinate Brownian motion. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 87:327–347, 2017.
- [22] P.B. Gilkey. Invariance Theory, the Heat Equation, and the Atiyah-Singer Index Theorem. CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1995.
- [23] A. Grigor'yan. Heat Kernel and Analysis on Manifolds, volume 47 of AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2012.
- [24] G. Grubb and R.T. Seeley. Zeta and eta functions for Atiyah-Patodi-Singer operators. J. Geom. Anal., 6(1):31–77, 1996.
- [25] P. Hartman and A. Wintner. On the infinitesimal generators of integral convolutions. *Amer. J. Math.*, 64:273–298, 1942.
- [26] E.J. Hinch. Perturbation Methods. Cambridge Texts Appl. Math. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.

- [27] L. Hörmander. The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators. I, volume 256 of Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1990.
- [28] N.C. Jain and W.E. Pruitt. Lower tail probability estimates for subordinators and nondecreasing random walks. Ann. Probab., 15(1):75–101, 1987.
- [29] J. Jorgenson and S. Lang. The ubiquitous heat kernel. In *Mathematics unlimited*—2001 and beyond, pages 655–683. Springer, Berlin, 2001.
- [30] J. Jorgenson and L. Walling, editors. The ubiquitous heat kernel, volume 398 of Contemporary Mathematics. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2006. Papers from a special session of the AMS Meeting held in Boulder, CO, October 2–4, 2003.
- [31] V. Knopova and A.M. Kulik. Exact asymptotic for distribution densities of Lévy functionals. Electron. J. Probab., 16(52):1394–1433, 2011.
- [32] V. Knopova and R.L. Schilling. Transition density estimates for a class of Lévy and Lévy-type processes. J. Theoret. Probab., 25(1):144–170, 2012.
- [33] H.P. McKean, Jr. and I.M. Singer. Curvature and the eigenvalues of the Laplacian. *J. Differential Geometry*, 1(1):43–69, 1967.
- [34] A. Mimica. Heat kernel estimates for subordinate Brownian motions. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* (3), 113(5):627–648, 2016.
- [35] R. Remmert. Classical Topics in Complex Function Theory, volume 172 of Grad. Texts in Math. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997.
- [36] R.L. Schilling. Subordination in the sense of Bochner and a related functional calculus. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A, 64(3):368–396, 1998.
- [37] R.L. Schilling, R. Song, and Z. Vondracek. Bernstein Functions: Theory and Applications, volume 37 of Studies in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, second edition, 2012.
- [38] M.A. Shubin. Pseudodifferential Operators and Spectral Theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.
- [39] R. Song and Z. Vondraček. Potential theory of subordinate Brownian Motion. In P. Graczyk and A. Stos, editors, *Potential Analysis of Stable Processes and its Extensions*, volume 180 of *Lecture Notes in Math.*, pages 87–176. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2009.
- [40] M.E. Taylor. Partial Differential Equations I. Basic theory, volume 115 of Appl. Math. Sci. Springer, New York, second edition, 2011.
- [41] E.C. Titchmarsh. Introduction to the Theory of Fourier Integrals. Clarendon Press Oxford, 1948.
- [42] D.V. Vassilevich. Heat kernel expansion: user's manual. Phys. Rep., 388(5-6):279–360, 2003.
- [43] M. Vuilleumier. Slowly varying functions in the complex plane. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 218:343–348, 1976.
- [44] G.N. Watson. A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions. Cambridge Math. Lib. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. Reprint of the second (1944) edition.
- [45] R. Wong. Asymptotic Approximations of Integrals, volume 34 of Classics in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2001. Corrected reprint of the 1989 original.

M. A. Fahrenwaldt
Department of Actuarial
Mathematics and Statistics,
Maxwell Institute for Mathematical
Sciences
Heriot-Watt University
Edinburgh EH14 4AS
UK
E-mail: m.fahrenwaldt@hw.ac.uk